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Queensland Positive People is primarily 
funded by Queensland Health.  

During the reporting period funding has 
also been provided by Metro North 
Hospital and Health Service, and ViiV 
Healthcare Australia.

We would also like to acknowledge 
McCullough Robertson Lawyers for their 
pro-bono services. 

Several photographs in this report have 
been seleced from QPP’s archive library. 
The inclusion of a person’s photograph 
in this report implies nothing about their 
sexuality or HIV status.



Queensland Positive People's 
Commitment to Reconciliation 
and Respect 

QPP acknowledges the Traditional Custodians of the many lands 
upon which we work and live, including but not limited to; the  
Turrbal and Jagera (Brisbane), Yugambeh (Gold Coast),  
Gubbi Gubbi (Nambour), Yuwi (Mackay), Yidinjdji (Cairns), 
the Bindal and Wulgurukaba (Townsville) and Darumbal 
(Rockhampton) peoples. 

QPP recognises that this land is unceded and has always been  
under First Nations Peoples custodianship. We pay our respects to 
Elders past, present and to emerging community leaders.  

QPP also acknowledges the important role of Aboriginal and  
Torres Strait Islander People within our organisation and the  
communities we work alongside. 

QPP supports and welcomes the commitment to move forward with 
Constitutional recognition of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
People as a part of a broader action towards genuine, meaningful 
and lasting reconciliation.  

As part of our reconciliation commitment, QPP has lodged an  
expression of interest with Reconciliation Australia to embark upon 
the preparations to have a QPP Reconciliation Action Plan.  

We understand this is a commitment to an ongoing framework and 
process, and are committed to building sustainable and respectful 
relationships with First Nations Communities. We do so to break 
down any organisational barriers that Indigenous people living 
with HIV (PLHIV) may experience whilst being involved with QPP 
and our services.  

In alignment with Reconciliation Australia, QPP commits to the  
National Action Campaign to take action against racism through - 
It Stops With Me.  
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QPP Strategic Plan

Who we are
Queensland Positive People (QPP) is a professional, 
peer-led and inclusive community organisation that 
is committed to improving the quality of life for all  
people living with HIV (PLHIV) across Queensland. 
QPP has provided support to PLHIV through the use of  
multi-disciplinary teams since 1989.   

How we work
From governance to service provision, QPP 
encourages effective partnerships and provides 
collaborative, non-judgemental, compassionate and 
person-centred services in accordance with best  
practice. 

Our vision
QPP seeks to create a safe supportive environment 
where PLHIV are well informed, experience a healthy 
quality of life free from stigma and discrimination. PLHIV 
are empowered to enjoy increased levels of optimism, 
confidence and resilience, and have an active role in  
determining their future.  

Our mission 
QPP is dedicated to leading the Queensland HIV 
response and facilitating access to a comprehensive 
range of services that promote the health and  
well-being of PLHIV in Queensland; uphold the MIPA 
principles; and are delivered in accordance with  
internationally recognised best practice.
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Strategic Goal 1
Deliver innovative services for PLHIV that respond to the 
diversityof lived experience and regional disparities, 
improve quality of life, and acknowledge the social 
determinants of health.

1. Promote and empower individual self-determination  
    and self-management of HIV.
2. Create supportive and inclusive environments that lead  
    to earlier detection of HIV and STIs.
3. Promote the benefits of early uptake and continued use             
    of  treatments for long-term health and well-being.
4. Support access to appropriate services amongst                 
    ageing PLHIV to reduce the health impact of co-        
    morbidities and promote healthy ageing.
5. Maximise use of accessible media and innovative    
     technologies to improve health literacy and reduce      
     geographic isolation.

Strategic Goal 2
Facilitate the delivery of peer based support services that 
meet the needs of the community.

1. Pro-actively consult with and represent PLHIV to 
ensure the lived experience informs service delivery.

2. Support and educate PLHIV with a focus on those  
newly diagnosed and those returning to care or at 
risk of falling out of care to navigate clinical and 
community care services.

3. Foster peer networks and linkages that improve 
social connectedness and reduce isolation.

4. Actively promote equality of access to clinical and 
related services in rural and remote settings, particu-
larly amongst ageing PLHIV.

5. Recognise the changing funding landscape for HIV 
services and seek alternate and diversified income 
sources to reduce reliance on major funders.

Strategic Goal 4
Demonstrate an ongoing commitment to organisationalbest-
practice.

1. Sustain a high quality workforce through the creation of 
a healthy and supportive work environment.

2. Create responsive services that are informed by 
emerging trends; continuous quality improvement and 
the evaluation of outcomes across all aspects of service 
delivery.

3. Strengthen individual capacity of staff and board to 
meet personal and professional goals.

4. Implement models of governance that support 
high standards of leadership, sustainability of 
theorganisation and diverse funding sources.

5. Strengthen relationships and understanding of QPP’s 
service model with key stakeholders and industry 
partners. 

Strategic Goal 3
Reduce stigma and discrimination associated with HIV.

1. Deliver community education initiatives that increase 
awareness of HIV.

2. Support PLHIV experiencing stigma and 
discrimination whilst building personal resilience.                                                       

3. Identify and address systemic stigma and 
discrimination.

QPP Strategic Goals

Diversity
We embrace diversity in all its forms and the strength it brings to achieving our goals.

Meaningful Involvement of PLHIV (MIPA)
We recognise the powerful and unique contribution provided by the lived experience and pursue the meaningful 
involvement of PLHIV and all affected communities in all aspects of service delivery and research. 

Self-determination
We deliver a comprehensive range of services that foster individual resilience and self determination.

Quality & Innovation
We deliver services in accordance with evidence-based best practice and a commitment to collaboration and 
continuous quality improvement.



1The Kirby Institute. (2019). HIV, viral hepatitis and sexually transmissible infections in Australia 
annual surveillance report 2018. Retrieved from: https://kirby.unsw.edu.au/sites/default/files/
kirby/report/KI_Annual-Surveillance-Report-2018.pdf 
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QPP and Progress Toward the 
UNAIDS 95-95-95 Targets
In Australia, HIV policy is aiming to ‘virtually eliminate’ HIV  
transmissions by 2030, ensuring ‘no one is left behind’. This involves 
being signatory to a number of international obligations and targets 
including the UNAIDS Fast Track 95-95-95 targets. These targets aim 
for:

Australia has made significant strides in reaching these targets, however,  
despite our successes nationally and in Queensland, there is still a way 
to go in achieving what is required during this ‘last mile’. Additional 
investment and focused efforts from government, community and non-
government organisations, clinical services and research bodies is 
critical. While the full financial impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic 
have yet to be actualised, QPP will continue to advocate with funders 
to ensure that investment in HIV is not diverted. 

UNAIDS 95-95-95 Targets Australia’s progress 

95% of people living with HIV 
knowing their HIV status

95% of people who know their 
status on treatment

95% of people on treatment with 
suppressed viral loads

90% of people living with HIV 
being aware of their status

89% of those people diagnosed
receiving treatment

95% of those people diagnosed and
on treatment having an undetectable
vial load1



Page 9

95% OF ALL PEOPLE LIVING WITH 
HIV WILL KNOW THEIR HIV  
STATUS 

QPP provides peer delivered HIV and STI 
point of care testing through the RAPID 
program. The program is premised upon 
dismantling traditional barriers to testing 
and aims to engage with communities at 
risk of HIV, to support the earlier diagnosis 
of HIV in community settings. 

95% OF ALL PEOPLE DIAGNOSED 
WITH HIV INFECTION WILL RECEIVE 
SUSTAINED ANTIRETROVIRAL  
THERAPY 

Through our LIFE+ Program, QPP provides 
peer navigation, case management, legal 
support services and emergency financial 
assistance for PLHIV experiencing financial 
hardship. These services support PLHIV 
and the social determinants of health that 
impact on people’s ability to access health 
and social services, initiate HIV treatment 
and remain engaged with care.  

95% OF ALL PEOPLE RECEIVING 
ANTIRETROVIRAL THERAPY WILL 
HAVE VIRAL SUPPRESSION 

LIFE+ staff work directly with PLHIV to  
deliver peer education and case  
management support. Individual action 
plans are developed to achieve identified 
goals and build personal skills to support 
the person to effectively self-manage 
their HIV, remain engaged with care and  
adherent to treatment. 

95% OF PLHIV WILL EXPERIENCE 
GOOD HEALTH RELATED QUALITY 
OF LIFE 

As a community organisation for PLHIV, 
QPP is committed to addressing the  
critical rebalance of the bio-medicalisation 
of HIV and its focus on treatment targets. We  
recognise and provide support for the 
health and social needs of PLHIV beyond 
undetectable viral load. 

QPP contributes to the UNAIDS 95-95-95 Targets through 
the following: 

QPP advocates for a fourth 95 target i.e. 95-95-95-95. 
The fourth 95 focuses on health-related quality of life. It 
is related to mental health and access to social and peer 
supports that facilitate more holistic health and wellbeing.
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President’s Report

What’s that old saying? When the going gets 
tough... 

Nothing could more aptly describe the combined 
actions of the QPP staff and volunteers and their 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. It has been 
immensely reassuring for the board to watch as 
the whole organisation has responded to the  
unprecedented challenges this pandemic has 
created. Unlike many organisations, QPP staff  
deliver much of their work in face to face situations, 
so it wasn’t simply a case of “working from home”. 
Service models needed to be rethought, and QPP’s 
technology and capacity to deliver on-line support 
services needed to be quickly upgraded. It became 
paramount to maintain the health and welfare of 
not just clients who were struggling with social 
isolation, but also staff who were used to the 
comradery of mixing with their fellow workers 
when times were tough.  

After accepting the role of President from Matt Hall 

(our outgoing President) at the end of 2019, it made 
me immensely proud to have watched on and  
participated in this response. At the time of writing 
this piece, there remains no vaccine, and therefore 
no magic bullet for COVID-19, but I am confident 
that should Queensland have to return to the days 
of physical isolation associated with the early days 
of this pandemic, the organisation is well equipped 
to handle them. 

In 2019, QPP celebrated its 30th anniversary. 
It was an amazing time of remembering and  
celebrating who we are, where we have come 
from, and a time to reflect and stand proudly on 
the shoulders of the PLHIV and allies who had 
come before us. It was also an opportune time 
given the changing face of the HIV epidemic, the 
advent of U=U and PrEP, and falling notification 
rates of HIV to stop and revisit assumptions… Who 
are we as a collective?  What are our values and 
what does QPP stand for? Why are we here? How  
relevant are we to the changing face of the PLHIV 
in Queensland and their needs? What do we need 
to achieve together moving forward?  

The COVID-19 pandemic was, and for the  
foreseeable future remains an unwelcome  
distraction from the real work of QPP. I want to  
reassure everyone that whilst ensuring our answers 
to these questions continues to evolve, our goal 
as an organisation remains unchanged – to  
support the lives of each and every person living 
with HIV in Queensland. To this end, work behind 
the scenes continues to prepare us for seeking  
accreditation to deliver a broader range of  
services across Queensland including for PLHIV 
who are ageing and/or experiencing isolation. 



Mark Counter
President
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As many of you would be aware, early treatment 
options whilst allowing PLHIV to live long 
and healthy lives, have also come at a cost,  
contributing to many associated “co-morbidities” 
such as diabetes, heart and liver disease etc. 
Many of these conditions are seen in PLHIV at 
much earlier ages than in the general population. 
At QPP our work continues with state and 
national governments, and partner agencies to  
develop services that recognise these challenges 
and plan service models that are accessible across 
Queensland, particularly in rural and remote  
areas.  

In Queensland, unlike in most other states, a 
large proportion on the PLHIV population live in  
regional areas, which presents a challenge 
particularly for our ageing community. Many of us 
have experienced stigma and/or discrimination in 
its many forms in our lives, either directly related 
to our HIV status, or our lifestyle, sexuality, race 
or gender. At QPP we are very alert to this real 
and continued stigma and discrimination, and  
understand the concerns many harbour about  
facing an aged care industry that may repeat the 
sins of the past. This is occurring, as we ourselves 
grow older, and feel less confident in challenging 
such behaviour.  

To address these concerns, it remains the goal of 
the board to soon enter the world of aged care 
service provision. It is our hope that QPP might  
become the missing son or daughter in the 
room and take on the role of advocate for those  
navigating the challenging maze of growing old.  

QPP currently receives no funding to provide these 
services, but provision of an aged care service 

brings with it other benefits.  Providers of aged 
care services are paid to do so by the federal 
government, and any “profit” that is made, is 
not “tied” in the same way as most of the other  
funding QPP receives through the Queensland 
Health. Over the past several years, government 
funding priorities have been further and further 
channelled into the provision of services to PLHIV 
undergoing acute health and social challenges 
that may put them at risk of transmitting HIV.   

Self-generated income from an aged care  
program would be available for the broader PLHIV 
community and health initiatives that governments 
no longer fund, such as community development, 
anti-stigma campaigns, peer social support  
networks, education programs, and the 
Queensland Positive Speakers Bureau. 

My vision for QPP remains a comprehensive  
service that supports PLHIV through the whole 
of their lives. From our safe supportive testing  
environment at RAPID sites, to peer social support, 
peer navigation services, to case management 
services for those who are struggling. To member 
connection programs that link PLHIV together in 
their local areas for safe supportive networks, and 
disability and age care brokerage as PLHIV grow 
older. I see no reason why PLHIV should not run 
all these services for ourselves and excel at all of 
them.  
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2019/2020 has been a monumental year 
in Australia and around the world. We have 
all experienced major historical events and 
unprecedented disruption, which has affected us 
all on so many levels. Protests for climate change, 
#MeToo and #BlackLivesMatter movements, 
bushfire emergencies and global pandemics 
declared, including rigorous lockdowns and 
a staggering loss of employment worldwide. 
Despite faring better than many other nations in 

our pandemic response and economy, Australia 
is now facing one of the worst recessions in 30 
years. It feels overwhelming at times, we have 
had to rapidly respond moving from challenge to 
challenge, with little time to digest and process all 
that is changing around us.  

The effects of the past 12 months on our 
individual and collective mental health should 
not be underestimated. For many in the positive 
community, the COVID-19 pandemic has 
triggered a reliving of intense psychological and 
emotional experiences, especially for people 
who lived and survived through the height of the 
HIV/AIDS pandemic in the 1980’s and 1990’s. 
While HIV and COVID-19 are vastly different on 
many levels, the considerable anxiety, fear and 
uncertainty, the social/physical isolation and the 
rise of stigma associated with COVID-19, has 
been a distressing deja vu for many people living 
with HIV.  

However, during this time, the positive community 
has demonstrated incredible resilience. People 
have reached out and embraced solidarity and 
kindness, prioritised the most vulnerable and 
empowered each other to be able to take action 
to protect oneself and others from the virus.  
Forty years of responding to HIV has generated  
significant experience and lessons learned within 
the community.  

In early 2020, we embarked on a journey of  
reinvigorating our connections with community. 
While COVID-19 interrupted us all and we 

CEO’s Report
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were unable to complete the follow up face-
to-face meetings around Queensland, the 
preliminary survey highlighted some powerful 
messages (please see “community consultations” 
for more detail). After 30 years of facilitating the  
empowerment of PLHIV to protect their health and 
human rights, QPP knows that community-led 
and informed responses, which engage affected 
communities from the beginning, are the only way 
we can make deep and long-lasting progress. We 
will continue to strive to embed the meaningful 
involvement of PLHIV more deeply. We have re-
aligned some of our resources to strengthen peer 
and social connection and will be establishing a 
Community Advisory Board over the coming months. 

Despite the hurdles we have faced in 2019/2020, 
please join me to acknowledge and highlight QPP’s 
achievements over the past year: 

RAPID peer testers delivered over 7,700 point 
of care HIV and STI testing occasions of  
service, which is the largest number yet. This 
 represents continued growth and unprecedented 
demand on the RAPID program. 

QPP and Brisbane Sexual Health Service,  
Metro North HHS have partnered to provide a 
nurse-led clinic for on-site STI treatment,  
vaccination and contact tracing for RAPID clients.    

The LIFE+ program has supported over 300 PLHIV to 
self-manage their health and well-being, deal with 
stigma, build resilience, and navigate health and 
community systems and services. This represents an 
increase in demand of over 10% from the previous 
year.  

54 clients have been provided with support for 
their legal rights and responsibilities relating to HIV.  
We have contributed to a number of national and 
state commissions, consultations and submissions 
to ensure the HIV positive voice is represented in 
Human Rights, Aged Care consent law and policy 
making. 

QPP has provided nearly $60,000 in  
emergency relief funding for over 160 PLHIV  
experiencing financial hardship. This has  
assisted people’s access to HIV services and  
treatment, housing, food, transport, employment 
and training.  

QPP continues to be an active partner in 
Queensland and nationally coordinated  
clinical, public health and social research  
projects and pilots. Much of the research utilises  
community-based participatory and translational 
approaches ensuring that the positive voice is 
central in the co-creation of knowledge. We highly 
value the relationships we are building, which have 
resulted in conference abstracts, presentations and 
journal publications.  

We have developed a QPP Communications 
Strategy and have begun implementing the action 
plan for the next 12 months.   

QPP’s PLHIV membership increased by 17.5%.  

QPPs organic total reach on Facebook has 
increased by 12% and website engagement and 
new users increased by between 6-7%. 

Continued page 14



Melissa Warner
CEO

Page 14 QPP ANNUAL REPORT 2019 - 2020

Looking ahead to 2020/2021 

QPP was successful in obtaining COVID-related 
grants from the Queensland Government. The 
grants will enable us to make some important  
upgrades to our building premises and IT system 
including the website, so we can continue to meet 
the needs of community during the COVID-19 
 response and recovery phases.  

We will continue to strengthen our foundations 
through developing our organisational culture 
and community connections. 

QPP  has engaged with Reconciliation 
Australia and has begun the journey to develop 
Reconciliation Plan. 

Over the next 12 months, we will also be  
seeking to obtain a number of accreditations to 
align with requirements for Queensland Health 
funding agreements and to provide us with  
opportunities to diversify our funding and service 
provision through MyAgedCare and NDIS.  

I would like to acknowledge the generosity of 
countless community members and allies who 
have donated their time, raising and donating 
resources and funds to support QPP and the 
 positive community of Queensland. 

I would also like to thank the QPP staff, board 
and positive community for their gracious  
support, dedication and commitment. Everyone 
has openly embraced change as we nourish the 

foundations of our organisation by continually 
 improving what we do so we can provide support 
and services to our communities, grow together 
and inspire change.  

We were deeply saddened by the loss of 
Geoff Honnor. Geoff’s work and advocacy in 
the NSW and national HIV community-based  
response over the last couple of decades leaves 
an enormous influence. In his last role as ACON  
Director HIV/Sexual Health he came up with the  
Ending HIV campaign, with his and it’s  
legacy providing enormous positive impact to  
people living with HIV in Australia. Geoff’s passion 
and commitment   to  improving  the health and  
wellbeing of people living with HIV will serve as 
an inspiration to many in the HIV sector and the 
broader LGBTIQ community. 

I would also like to honour the passing of Larry 
Kramer – author, essayist and playwright and 
also known as ‘One of America’s most valuable 
trouble makers’. He was the founder of Act Up 
(AIDS Coalition to Unleash Power) in 1987 whose 
actions demanded AIDS be dealt with as a public 
health emergency, including speeding up research 
into treatments and an end to discrimination.  
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Michael Kirby
Former Justice of the High Court of Australia  Member of the 
UNAIDS Reference Group on HIV and Human Rights (2005-
2019)

I am honoured to serve as Patron of the QPP and HOPE Fund.  
I commend the QPP Annual Report for 2019-20. 

What a year this has been.  As if to prove the unpredictability 
of life, a tiny virus has once again jumped into our lives.  It 
has caused death and much suffering in Australia and the 
world.  It has also caused special pain to the clients, staff and 
community of QPP.  Once again, they have had to adjust to 
a dangerous global pandemic.  Once again there has been 
fear and uncertainty because of the absence of therapeutics 
or a vaccine.  Once again social and physical isolation has 
been urged upon us as a means of survival in the face of a 
virus.  Once again stigma abounds; social connections are 
severed; emotional support and access to emergency funds 
become more important and urgent at such a time. 

I congratulate the positive community for demonstrating 
incredible resilience.  However, fresh exposure to a nasty 
pandemic has inevitably brought back memories of cruel 
experiences.  I thank everyone involved with QPP for making 
the journey of our clients easier.   

There have been many other achievements.  Every day 
is a place for helping the needy.  I offer felicitations and 
affectionate greetings to QPP, its leaders, members, staff and 
friends. 

Sincerely, 

Patron’s Statement



QPP’s suite of services and programs covering 
prevention, testing, treatment and care for PLHIV 
have continued to innovate and grow over this 
past year. 

With the emergence of COVID-19 our services 
and programs required adaptation to respond to 
the pandemic and changing needs of PLHIV and  
people at risk of HIV.  

In response, we reoriented the way we  
delivered our programs and services to ensure  
safety for our clients, staff and community, whilst  
ensuring consistency in service delivery and minimal  
disruption. QPP was and is considered an  
essential health service through the pandemic  
response and recovery, which enabled us to  
continue to deliver essential in person support 
when and where needed. 

QPP recognised and responded to the heightened 
concerns and vulnerabilities for PLHIV due 
to COVID-19. There was an urgent need for  
evidence-based information on HIV/COVID-19, 
online social connection, emotional support 
and access to emergency funds to assist with 

 treatments and other supports. 

In 2020, QPP undertook a review of the peer 
navigation program, which was informed by 
qualitative and quantitative data. This included 
findings from the QPP Peer Navigation Evaluation 
(University of Queensland), community and 
stakeholder engagements and a review of the 
literature. The report was completed in June 2020 
and includes recommendations to improve and 
expand the program and the supports we provide 
to our community. These will be implemented in the 
coming year. 

The case management team has continued to 
grow this past year with the welcome addition of 
Treatment Support Facilitators (case managers) 
Kamala and Lani to the Brisbane-based team. We 
now have a total of 10 case managers supporting 
PLHIV wherever they reside across the state.  

From March 2020, COVID-19 public health 
restrictions had a significant impact on in person 
outreach services. Clients and staff have worked 
together to navigate restrictions and ensure 
minimal disruption to services and support. We 
would like to thank and acknowledge our clients 
and staff for their understanding and willingness to 
be adaptive and flexible through the COVID-19 
pandemic ensuring continuity of service delivery. 

Stigma and discrimination continue to be a 
pervasive issue impacting PLHIV. We continue 
to provide case management support to people 
who experience discrimination in health care, 
employment, migration and other settings. During 
the COVID-19 pandemic, we experienced 
an increase in people reporting stigma and 
discrimination related to their HIV and assumptions 
on risk of COVID-19 acquisition and transmission.  
Emergency relief funds were also accessed 
heavily over this past year with increased needs 
associated directly with the pandemic including 

Executive Program
Manager’s Report
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medications access, food and other supports. 
A significant number of people were impacted 
directly by the COVID-19 travel restrictions and 
were ineligible for subsidised treatment through 
Medicare.  

Across programs QPP has strengthened its 
collaborative research partnerships with state 
and national institutions. New research projects 
have been funded this past year, however due 
to COVID-19 some research activities have been 
put on hold and others delayed reducing risks for 
participants. 

In addition to research, QPP has worked with 
NAPWHA and other stated based PLHIV 
organisations across Australia in the development 
of some significant bodies of work including the 
Australian National HIV Peer Support Standards. 
The standards acknowledge the valuable role 
PLHIV play in the HIV response. Recognising peer 
support is an integral part of the HIV care team; 
the standards provide an extensive framework to 
guide best practice in HIV peer work.  

The coming year for QPP programs looks to be very 
promising.  As well as implementing findings from 
the peer navigation model review, we will further 
strengthen our peer and community connection 
through the delivery of an exciting new project 
with Communify. 

The QPP/Communify pilot project will focus on 
delivery of mental health workshops. The series of 
workshops, co-facilitated by a trauma-informed 
psychologist and peer navigator, will focus on 
several strategies to support improved mental 
health for participants. 

I would like to acknowledge and thank our highly 
skilled, committed and passionate team at QPP 
across all our programs who continue to work 
hard in realising QPP’s vision of creating a better 

future for PLHIV. 

In June 2020 we said goodbye to Satrio Nindyo 
Isitko (Tiko), Peer Navigator Team Leader. Tiko 
had been with QPP since 2016 and over this time 
made several significant contributions to empower 
the multi-cultural and broader community of PLHIV. 
He forged new relationships on behalf of QPP and 
contributed to the workings of: 

 Refugee Health Network – HIV Manage 
 ment in the Refugee Context  

 Health Consumers Queensland  

 Community of Practice HIV and Mobility  
 (CoPAHM)  

 True Relationships Culturally Responsive  
 Health Advisory Group;  

Tiko’s leadership, his embodiment of the greater 
meaningful involvement of PLHIV (GIPA/MIPA) 
principles and his passion to grow and develop 
a professional team of peer navigators was well 
regarded by his peers and colleagues at both a 
state and national level. 

We thank Tiko for his humour, passion, 
professionalism, expertise and genuine desire to 
make Queensland a better place for PLHIV. 

Chris Howard
Executive Programs Manager
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It’s been an exciting year with QPP celebrating 
its 30th year – amazing!  The Operations Team 
put our event planner hats on to organise the 
anniversary celebration. We also undertook a 
QPP History Project, which was presented at the 
event. The project involved researching library 
archives and reaching out to people who have 
been involved with QPP over the last 30 years 
to document their stories. Our 30th anniversary 
celebrations were magical, with many of you 
celebrating this milestone with us, of which we are 
so appreciative and proud.  

To get ready for the event and to create a beautiful 
space for our social groups to enjoy, we realised 
our Manilla Street courtyard was in need of a mini 
makeover. With much negotiating and bartering, 
many donations and volunteer support, we 
managed to create something green and quite 
beautiful.  We wish to thank Bootco for donating 
and installing our new automatic watering system 
ensuring our plants have all the water they 
need.  Thank you to a number of staff who have 
contributed to the maintenance of the courtyard 
since then. 

Successful negotiations on a new lease on our 
Ann Street property ensured cost savings and a 
guarantee that our RAPID clinic would continue 
in it’s great, easy to access location without the 
trouble of re-locating. Meetings with builders on 
planned renovations for more testing/counselling 
rooms are in progress so we can meet the demand 
and expand this very popular service.  

QPP’s Human Resources systems have been 
streamlined even further, with advancement of an 
online program enabling digital on-boarding and 
inductions, filing and reporting.  It’s created great 
efficiencies for our teams. Many cost reductions 
have been negotiated in rents, phone technology, 
security, internet and we have welcomed a new 
accountant and auditor to QPP.   

Executive 
Operations 
Manager’s Report  
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QPP’s communication strategy has been updated 
in consultation with the board and many members 
of the team. We look forward to the implementation 
in the coming year to provide community with 
more information and more exciting membership 
opportunities and benefits. 

The QPP website is beginning its long-awaited 
overhaul. We realise it is lacking in some areas 
and want to be able to reflect our new services, 
in an easily navigated space with as much of the 
latest information available. We hope to hear your 
thoughts and feedback on the existing website, 
so we can create an educational, informative 
and exciting portal of information. Community 
consultation is due to start very soon. Watch this 
space! 

The World AIDS Day (WAD) program is now 
under the Operations Team banner. We are 
delighted to be leading the WAD co-ordinator to 
deliver the most exciting World AIDS campaign 
via social media than we’ve ever been able to 
achieve. We’ve aligned it with communications, 
so more hands on deck should produce a more 
heavily promoted and visual campaign. We are 
also working on the revamp of the World AIDS 
Day Queensland website. 

QPP’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic 
involved rapidly developing and implementing 

a Public Health Management Plan to guide our 
teams to deliver services with COVID safe practices 
at the forefront of everyone’s minds. Updates and 
relevant COVID-19 information was updated 
on our website, delivered to our community in 
newsletters and social media campaigns. The 
Operations Team was integral in the support of 
our service delivery teams to achieve these fast 
and significant changes.  

I have been honoured to lead QPP’s Operations 
and successfully deliver all of the accountabilities 
within this role.  I am so grateful to my team - Will, 
Maddie, Adam and sometimes we borrow Jason - 
for their ongoing support to the organisation, their 
humour, fortitude, skills and knowledge.  This team 
is the backbone of this incredible organisation, 
and we are all so proud to be working for PLHIV 
in Queensland.   

Until next year… 
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Jane Copeland (Angus) 
Executive Operations Manager

“Our destiny is not written for us, 
it’s written by us” — Barack Obama



The RAPID program has had another phenomenal year delivering peer-led point of care testing 
(PoCT) for HIV and other Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs). The RAPID program, established 
in 2014, operates from its main clinic in Fortitude Valley, Brisbane. The program also delivers 
testing in a number of outreach locations in Brisbane and Townsville.  

Peer testers at RAPID are PLHIV or people from communities at higher risk of HIV who are 
trained and experienced in sex positive health promotion, testing, diagnosing and referring 
clients for appropriate treatment and support.  

As we celebrated RAPID’s 5th anniversary in late 2019, occasions of service were the largest 
yet - totalling 7,703 for the calendar year. This represents unprecedented demand on the RAPID 
service, alongside continued growth in occasions of service averaging approximately 33% 
over the 2016 – 2019 period (inclusive). Data from the 2019/2020 financial year reflects a 
decline in occasions of service to 6,007 solely attributed to the clinic’s closure from April to June 
in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

RAPID is increasingly becoming a vital component of Queensland’s suite of sexual health 
services.  In 2019, RAPID diagnosed approximately 30% of people diagnosed with HIV in the 
Brisbane Metro North Hospital and Health Service. This represents 11 people who received 
their diagnosis informed by the lived experience of HIV, with seamless linkages into HIV clinical 
services and additional support services provisioned by QPP - which we are incredibly proud 
of.  Further, across Brisbane Metro North, RAPID diagnosed between 12.75 and 22.5% of 
chlamydia, syphilis and gonorrhoea notifications. This demonstrates that the service engages 
with people at risk of HIV and STIs – which is known to increase transmission of HIV.   

RAPID – Queensland HIV and STI 
point of care testing program 
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From left to right, Cassio, Izriel, Robert, Luke, Shaye, Jesse and Adam.



Our client base continues to diversify, with several priority populations engaging with RAPID 
for their sexual health needs as identified in National and Queensland HIV and STI strategies 
and action plans.

HIV can affect anyone, so it is particularly important that the clinic continues to provide access 
to testing for everyone, however they identify and for people who are ineligible for Medicare.  
Historically, some populations at risk of STIs have been overlooked in the context of HIV, 
where most programs and resources are exclusively targeted towards gay identifying men 
and other men who have sex with men. RAPID is well placed to advance the understanding of 
these underrepresented populations with respect to their knowledge around the transmission 
and awareness of the lived experience of HIV. This is important work to continue to dismantle 
stigma and misconceptions around HIV, and work the clinic is incredibly proud to undertake.  
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RAPID has continued to innovate over this past 
financial year, undertaking several novel projects.  

One of our largest success stories has been the 
provision of on-site treatment for STIs.  In partnership 
with both the Metro North Sexual Health and HIV 
Service and the Metro North Public Health Unit, 
RAPID has hosted an outreach clinic in the Fortitude 
Valley, Brisbane premises. The clinic is staffed with 
a clinical nurse providing treatment, vaccination 
and contact tracing support for RAPID clients in the 
same location they have accessed testing services. 
We are pleased to announce that this partnership 
service will continue into the next financial year.  

Other outreach projects RAPID has continued 
testing at include: 

 The University of Queensland and the   
 Queensland University of Technology 

 Sex on Premises Venues in Brisbane 

 Townsville Sexual Health and HIV Service. 

Program and research partnerships enable RAPID 
to re-invest much needed funds in the program to 
meet demand.   

Looking ahead, the 2020 - 2021 financial year 
will see RAPID expand service delivery further with 
2 additional HIV self-testing projects: 

Mail out of HIV self-testing kits - 
The project will service the entire geographic 
expanse of Queensland and provide a support 
line to improve access to peer support for 
Queenslanders outside Brisbane and Townsville. 

HIV self-testing kit vending machine - 
Vending machines dispensing HIV self-test kits 
will be operated as part of a research project in 
collaboration with the University of Queensland 
and the Metro North Public Health Unit. The 
vending machines will be located within Brisbane 
and Toowoomba and allow for 24/7 access to 
testing – a truly exciting prospect.  

All in all, we cannot wait to see what the coming 
year brings and continue our work in improving 
access to HIV testing for those who are living with 
HIV but unaware of their status. 

Outreach HIV self testing/home testing
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“
“

Since 2016, QPP has been funded by Queensland Health to provide case management services to PLHIV 
across Queensland. The treatment support program aims to provide support to PLHIV to overcome barriers to 
engagement with HIV care and treatment. The treatment support team also work closely with the HIV Public 
Health Team to provide complex case management to clients.

Treatment Support Facilitators utilise a case management and planned support approach, which holistically 
considers individual circumstances and needs. This support places individuals at the centre of care while ac-
knowledging and building upon their own strengths and abilities. 

Treatment Support Facilitators have professional qualifications and undergo training that specialises in case 
management. Our team understands that circumstances and pressures can be overwhelming, and can cause 
people to lose focus on their health and wellbeing and their HIV care and treatment. Assistance from case 
managers can help people who may be experiencing stressful or uncertain circumstances with their health, 
housing and finances to:

 Identify issues
 Explore options
 Share knowledge of alternative services or processes 
 Jointly develop goals to address issues and concerns.

There were 318 people supported through our case management program this past year. 97% of people re-
ceiving case management services and who completed service evaluations reported high levels of satisfaction 
with the services they received. We walk alongside our clients encouraging and supporting them to address 
issues one-step at a time. Our program staff meet clients in community, homes or offices to ensure confidenti-
ality and safety.  

Here is what one of our case managers has reflected about the support they provide:

“I love that I have been able to help clients find housing, save their homes from repossession, 
get them in-home care if needed, attend daunting medical appointments that fill them with fear, 
assist to find a new supportive GP, assist with HOPE Fund applications so they have essentials 
they need, like a fridge or supportive bed etc. I love that I have been able to advocate on behalf 
of my clients to save them from the rejection they would have received if they had gone it alone. 
I love how they are teaching me about resilience” – Marg, Treatment Support Facilitator.

Here is what one of our clients have said about the case management services they receive

“Mentally and physically, I feel better. You gave me hope. The encouragement and support has 
been the light in the darkness when I thought no one cared. My health and mental health has 
improved so much. The calls, the service, the support with phone credit, food, and transport has 
been great. I cannot put into words how grateful I am. I felt free to speak openly and now I am 
feeling in control of my life again. I don’t know where I would be without QPP. I had a team of 
3 workers and every one of them have helped me so much.”

LIFE+ Program: 
Case management services 
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Peer Navigators are PLHIV who offer the expertise of lived experience and professional training to provide 
educational, emotional and social support, guidance and referral services for PLHIV across Queensland. 

Since the development of the QPP peer navigation program in 2016, peer navigation has been providing 
one-on-one support in community settings. Our peer navigation service focuses on providing timely support to 
people newly diagnosed with HIV, those people returning to care and those at risk of disengaging from care. 
The team provides information and practical support to assist people to navigate diagnosis and living with HIV.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic we experienced increased social isolation, challenges with mental health, 
the need for emotional support more broadly and information on COVID-19. The program responded to 
support people by developing an online chat feature on the QPP website, warm line support via phone, and 
transitioned social groups to online platforms via video conference software. The online social groups utilised 
both internal and community consultations to support the development of policy and procedures. 

With the support of other staff with communications, video filming and editing skills, peer navigators developed 
informational videos for our Facebook page and website. Topics included:

 QPP & COVID-19: Tell us what’s going on with you?
 Access to HIV Treatments
 Introduction to Peer Navigation
 Online ‘chat with us’ function.

The Peer Navigation Evaluation study conducted by the University of Queensland revealed that HIV clinicians 
that utilised peer navigators in support of their patients found that it was very helpful and often acted as a 
‘bridge between the clinic and the patient’. 

The study recommended more effective promotion of the peer navigation program to the HIV clinical workforce. 
The peer navigation team developed, in consultation with Light and Shade media, a short video that explains 
the program. The video highlights how peer navigators can support people with a diagnosis of HIV, link them 
to other peers, social networks and support them to self-management and build resilience. The video was 
uploaded to the QPP website and was distributed through social media and other channels.

LIFE+ Program: Peer Navigation
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Above: QPP Peer Navigation video.



Peer-led feedback from the PLHIV community is incredibly valuable and informs all that we do. QPP’s peer navigators 
have led QPP’s community engagement including consultations with community and social group attendees.

A community engagement survey and interviews were carried out with nearly 100 people taking time to participate.  
While, the forums planned to follow on from the survey were put on hold due to the pandemic, the survey managed to 
reach a diverse population of people with HIV across Queensland. 

Community Engagement
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The survey data reflected the changing 
face of HIV with approximately 20% of 
respondents identifying as women and 
24% of all respondents identifying as 
heterosexual. The graph below shows 
participant gender identities with women 
accounting for 20% and men 74% of 
respondents. The remaining 6% did not 
answer this question.

Gender Identities

 Peer and social connection - PLHIV want more opportunities to come together collectively a   
 contribute to a deeper sense of community. 
 Social connection and emotional support with peers empower you to reduce internal stigma   
 and become more resilient.
 The community continues to need support to navigate and engage with health systems and   
 community services to support health, financial, housing and legal needs. Health needs were 
 related to HIV clinical services, ageing, self-management of chronic illness, mental and sexual  
 health, and dental care. 
 Support for our ageing community.
 Greater involvement in mental health and addiction support such as counselling, 
 psychological therapies and peer support.
 Implementation of an HIV stigma campaign to increase HIV awareness more broadly across   
 society. 
 With the positive voice being strongest in South East Queensland and North Queensland, we   
 need to build our connection and relationships in Central Queensland. 

Key themes from the Community Engagement Survey included:

1, 1%

69, 74%

4, 4%

1, 1%

19, 20%
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Over the coming year, QPP will enhance current service provision and explore 
opportunities for new funding to implement new services and supports for our community. 
QPP will consult with the Community Advisory Group on proposed services in response 

to identified community needs.

Community Advisory Group
Moving forward, our peer navigators will continue to support online social groups and finding innovative, 
meaningful and fun ways to engage with community through the pandemic response and recovery phases. We 
are also delighted to announce that QPP will be establishing a Community Advisory Group to provide a platform 
through which individual and collective voices can be heard. This will support QPP to identify current and 
emerging needs and inform the development of service delivery, advocacy, health education and information.

Sexual orientation was also varied with 
5% or respondents identifying as bi-sexual, 
24% as heterosexual and 64% as gay. The 
remaining 7% did not answer this question.

The length of participant diagnosis ranged 
from 1984 to 2020 with 20% of respon-
dents diagnosed in the last 5 years. There 
was an even distribution of participants 
from 1984 to 2015.

Sexual Orientation

1, 1%

60, 64%

1984 2020

22, 24%

1, 1% 1, 1%
5, 5%4, 4%



Page 27

QPP’s social groups are community-driven initiatives to increase social connection among PLHIV in Queensland. Drawing 
upon our social capital and resources that exist within communities enables the development of sustainable social support 
networks. Social group coordinators, with assistance from local PLHIV, plan events and coordinate activities. We would 
like to thank our coordinators for their ongoing dedication and commitment. These individuals are volunteers, and create 
welcoming and nourishing spaces for PLHIV across Queensland. Thank you, Lisa, Jason, Garth, Lara, Mike and Kevin.

QPP held the following social groups across Queensland from July 2019 – March 2020, a total of 398 people attended 
these groups:

QPP Social Groups

During this reporting period QPP and the social group 
coordinators and attendees explored opportunities 
to improve the operation and function of QPP’s social 
groups to ensure they were meeting community needs 
and expectations. Together, we looked at a variety of 
social supports including workshops, drop-in centre, social 
events, support groups, etc., group facilitation methods and 
how QPP could support such initiatives. 

However, in March 2020 the community development 
project, in person focus and social groups were put on 

hold due to the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown period. 
In response, we transitioned to online forms of positive 
connection to ensure continuity of social support and 
engagement for PLHIV during this time. 

Social groups were now open to all PLHIV across 
Queensland and indeed Australia with NAPWHA’s 
weekly online social support initiative ChinWag. QPP’s 
peer navigators also supported these online forums, which 
created fun and informative spaces for PLHIV to come 
together, have a yarn and unwind.

 Gold Coast Social
 Rockhampton Social
 Cairns Social Group
 Planet Positive

 Saturday BBQ
 Positively Women
 Mature Aged and Long-Term Survivors
 Heterosexual Men Group
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Stigma, discrimination and unwanted disclosure continue to be a significant issue for PLHIV across 
a range of settings including health care, employment and housing. This program provides case 
management support for PLHIV experiencing stigma and discrimination. It also develops HIV legal 
literacy by engaging with police, lawyers, PLHIV and other community organisations and stakeholders.  

QPP has participated in Queensland Police Service LGBTI Consultative Group meetings, which were 
established to build relationships, increase understanding and ensure effective communications between 
the Queensland Police Service and organisations influential in the LGBTI+ communities.

With the emergence of COVID-19 and the uncertainty that came with this novel virus, QPP experienced 
an increase in people seeking assistance for COVID-19 and HIV related discrimination. Some health 
care services assumed that PLHIV were at greater risk of COVID-19 acquisition and transmission, which 
resulted in some people being treated differently due to their HIV status. In 2019/2020, the program 
assisted 54 clients. 

In Queensland, criminal law and popular 
understandings have not kept up with the 
scientific consensus regarding HIV transmission 
and clinical advances that have changed the 
experience of PLHIV. The new science of HIV 
transmission shows that people on effective 
treatment cannot transmit the virus through sex. 

Reliable data show that over 73% of PLHIV in 
Australia reach this goal. This creates uncertainty 
about the legal obligations of PLHIV around 
sexual encounters that pose little or no risk of 
transmission. It poses a risk that prosecutions for 
sexual conduct involving HIV may be launched 
without a reasonable prospect of conviction.

During the reporting period, QPP engaged 
with consultant Daniel Reeders who developed 
a briefing paper and we began a consultation 
process on the key issues, identifying partners 
and pathways for reform. This involved 
representatives from legal, health, university and 
community sectors.

A HIV and the Law Roundtable was planned for 
March 2020 to meet with a broader range of 
legal representatives and develop a concrete 
strategy for change. However, the Roundtable 
event has been on hold due to COVID but we 
are hopeful to deliver this activity in the coming 
year. 

During the reporting period, QPP and the HIV/AIDS Legal Centre (HALC) prepared a joint submission 
and consultation discussions to the Queensland Law Reform Commission in response to the Review of 
consent law and the excuse of mistake of fact Consultation Paper.

Further, QPP contributed to and/or was signatory to the following submissions:
 
 Religious Discrimination Bill 2019 –  Australian Federation of AIDS Organisations (AFAO)
 Free and Equal: An Australian conversation on human rights - Positive Life NSW 
 Royal Commission into Aged Care Quality and Safety - Positive Life NSW

LIFE+ Program: 
Stigma and Discrimination

Criminal law and the new scientific consensus on HIV transmission risk

Advocacy 

Submissions 
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In November 2017, Queensland Health conducted a HIV round-table meeting in Cairns to explore 
the issue of increased HIV diagnoses among First Nations People. The report recommended that 
“it is valuable to include a section that speaks to consultation and engagement with Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander PLHIV to understand their unique lived experiences and their cultural/
other needs as they relate to the HIV continuum of care”. 

In response to this recommendation, QPP in collaboration with the Positive Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander Network (PATSIN) developed a culturally appropriate, three-day residential 
workshop for First Nations PLHIV - funded by ViiV Healthcare. In recognition the principles 
embedded in the Meaningful Involvement of PLHIV/AIDS (MIPA), a steering group comprised 
of First Nations PLHIV guided the project and assisted in the development of workshop content 
and activities. 

The retreat took place in Yungaburra over three days (29 August 2019-03 September 2019). 14 
First Nations PLHIV attended the retreat, with the majority from Far North Queensland, the Torres 
Strait Islands, Brisbane and a small number of people from Sydney, Adelaide and Melbourne. 

Individuals identified as male and female and their ages ranged between 25 and 61 years old. 
Individuals at the retreat identified as being heterosexual or gay and many of the attendees 
emphasised how beneficial it was having all kinds of First Nations People at the retreat. This was 
especially apparent within the cohort of women – many of whom noted that they had never been 
in the same place as so many of their peers before.

Lengths of time from HIV diagnosis were varied throughout the attendees, with the longest time 
since diagnosis being 35 years and the shortest being four months. The interactions between 
newly diagnosed First Nations PLHIV and their peers who had been diagnosed for longer 
provided opportunities for peer-to-peer learning and healing – an opportunity that had not been 
previously experienced by many of the attendees.

First Nations Wellness Retreat 

Steering Group. 
From left to right: 
Chris Howard, 
Arone Meeks, 
Michelle Tobin, and 
Michael Brown.
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“
“This [the workshop] has made me feel at ease. If I want to talk to someone 
here, I can without being judged. I don’t care about being judged, but there’s 
no one that you can talk to outside. But when you’re on this retreat there’s 
so many and they tell you stories and you just open up with pure innocence. 
That’s the best part of it – innocence. Because we come into this world 
innocent and then we go through life with all these trials and everything, 
and then coming to this [the workshop], it’s like you’re being reborn again”

Participants expressed high levels of satisfaction with both the workshop content and cultural 
activities. The retreat provided an opportunity for First Nations PLHIV to increase their knowledge 
around HIV and discuss the factors influencing their engagement in treatment and care within a 
safe environment. Additionally, and most importantly, the First Nations Wellness Retreat provided 
participants with an opportunity to connect and to give and receive support from their peers.  As 
mentioned, for some this was the first time they had met another person with HIV and for others it 
was the first time that had met another First Nations Person living with HIV. Participants reported 
feeling an overwhelming sense of connection within the group and emphasised a feeling of healing 
that was not felt within mainstream healthcare settings. 

Genazzano Retreat, 
Yungaburra

The post-retreat report demonstrated 
that the retreat was of benefit to 
everyone who attended. The qualitative 
data gathered demonstrated the healing 
that took place and the connections that 
were formed between the attendees. 
The increases in quality of life scores 
supported this assertion, along with 
the powerful participant testimonies 
illustrated within voice recordings taken 
throughout the retreat.

Retreat participant art
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In the latter stages of 2018, QPP obtained funding to deliver a syphilis awareness campaign to help address the rapidly 
rising rates of syphilis within Queensland. In collaboration with the Queensland Council for LGBTI Health (QC), the ‘Let’s 
Treat Syphilis’ campaign was implemented in early March 2019 through to November 2019. The campaign aimed to 
raise awareness within target populations regarding several key messages relating to syphilis:

 Transmission risks and re-infection;
 Asymptomatic nature and how to recognise symptoms; 
 Importance of testing every 3 months; 
 Importance of prompt treatment;
 Critical role of partner notification and available support. 

Above: Cassio, Izriel, Robert, Jeremy at RAPID wearing “Let’s Treat 
Syphilis” campaign t-shirts. 

Above: Jason Radcliffe QPP Public Health Officer (left) & Penelope Marshall, 
Clinical Nurse Consultant (right) Sexual Health & HIV Service - Sunshine Coast 
Hospital and Health Service

The campaign utilised intensive, geo-
population targeted health promotion and 
advertising via a broad range of promotion 
avenues, such as dating applications, sexual 
media, social media, websites, community 
press media, convenience advertising, clinic 
promotion, and promotion at community events 
etc. Digital promotion of Let’s Treat Syphilis  
circulated on Grindr, Squirt, Facebook, 
Instagram and Divas Chat until the end 
of October 2019. These health promotion 
messages were developed through community 
consultation in the form of three focus groups 
with members of the target population.

Approximately 760 Let’s Treat Syphilis  
promotional posters were distributed to 
sexual health clinics, general practices and 
venues throughout Queensland. Additionally, 
over 12,000 Let’s Treat Syphilis promotional 
condoms were distributed throughout the 
state, along with 160 T-shirts. An overview 
of the campaign was also conducted at the 
Sexual Health Society of Queensland clinical  
meeting on Saturday 24 August 2019.

Modest results were observed, with online  
advertising resulting in over 34,000 clicks 
(with an average session duration of 
48.1 seconds) over the 6-month period. 
When surveyed, approximately 1/5th 
of RAPID clients had seen Let’s Treat  
Syphilis campaign materials in one form 
or another. The post-campaign focus 
groups provided valuable feedback 
that will be utilised for future health  
promotion activities for MSM populations in 
Queensland.

Let’s Treat Syphilis Campaign  
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Queensland Positive People
30th Anniversary

1989

It was at this conference, that a group of brave attendees marched 
on stage as openly HIV-positive, protesting the lack of visibility and 
inclusion of PLHIV in the national response to AIDS. Among this 
group was Reg Carnell, who, inspired by the energy and momentum 
generated from the conference, returned to Queensland with a bold 
vision: creating a state-wide PLHIV group led by PLHIV.

“Many thoughts crossed my mind after the... conferences that I had 
attended and the need was seen for something to be done for People 
Living With AIDS in Queensland... Decisions on future issues will be 
made by those people who are directly affected. We shall no longer be 
told what to do or what is best for us, but shall be making the decisions 
for ourselves.” - Reg Carnell 1989

 

Reg Carnell, Bill Leebody and Rob Allender among a 
group of PLHIV founded Queensland Positive People on 
February 26th, 1989. As the first QPP Convenor, Reg 
chose the name for its uplifting spirit: positive by name, 
positive by nature, positive by status. QPP found its feet 
thanks to the generous support of the Queensland Aids 
Council (QuAC), the Sisters of Mercy, and an amazing 
host of compassionate, community-spirited carers and 
volunteers. Six people attended the first QPP meeting 
and all held hands around the meeting table and gave 
thanks QPP was up and running.

Third National Conference on HIV/AIDS in Hobart 1988

Queensland Positive People founded
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1989
1990 1994

No. 5 Allen St, Mater Hill opened its doors for PLHIV and allies 
as a drop-in centre, where people could access amenities, 
counselling, medical services or simply chat to a friendly 
volunteer. Allen St became the headquarters of QPP and a 
weekly open day was held on Fridays, which always concluded 
with a shared meal. Attendance rapidly grew with many new 
faces each week, until the number of people attending far 
exceeded the capacity of the small house and a back terrace 
was installed with QPP’s own funds to provide additional space. 
Many QPP members have fond memories of Allen St and the 
wonderful, welcoming community spirit that felt like family.

Reg Carnell passed away on 25th September 
1993. His photograph was placed above 
the Allen St visitor’s sign-in book and one 
minute’s silence was observed in honour of 
all the QPP members who had since lost their 
lives to AIDS. We have been forever grateful 
to Reg Carnell and all the other early activists 
who worked so courageously to build QPP, 
for their sacrifices and contributions to fighting 
AIDS, often with failing health and for giving 
hope to PLHIV in Queensland.

The first edition of the QPP ALIVE 
magazine was printed in September 
1990 and the publication continued 
for 25 years through to 2015. 
Magazines were filled with articles 
relating to diet, nutrition, treatment 
options, uplifting real-life stories and 
topics of interest to positive people. 
QPP ALIVE connected the positive 
community throughout Queensland.

The first Candlelight Vigil in Brisbane was held in the late 
1980’s, but it wasn’t until 1994 that a dedicated committee 
annualised the event. Approximately 2,000 people attended 
the inaugural Candlelight Vigil at Southbank Parklands, 
publicly sharing their grief and showing their support for 
PLHIV. This is an opportunity each year for the community to 

come together to reflect on special memories 
of the friends, family and lovers we’ve sadly 
lost.

The Allen St House Passing of Reg Carnell

First edition of QPP ALIVE
AIDS Candlelight Vigil, Brisbane

1993
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Queensland Positive People 30th Anniversary

1999
2002

Queensland Positive People proudly 
celebrated 10 years of growth and service 
to the positive community. Throughout the 
decade, QPP provided invaluable support 
to the newly diagnosed and terminally 
ill, regular Friday night social events, HIV 
outreach education, and organised simple 
weekend away stays for QPP members, who 
in many cases had limited financial resources. 
These feats were accomplished through the 
immeasurable generosity and tireless hard 
work of unpaid QPP members, carers and 
volunteers. After the advent of new drugs 
and combination therapy in 1996, PLHIV 
began experiencing new levels of wellness. 
Many QPP members felt a new strength to 
push harder to assert their position as a strong 
community organisation. We are immensely 
proud to be continuing this vision many years 
later.

This commemoration quilt was officially 
unfolded on 27 November, 2002 at the 
Brisbane Powerhouse A panel bears the 
names of QPP members whose lives were 
lost to AIDS: Richard, Andrie, Ben, Mark, 
Alan, Lyn, Lee, Greg, Ross, Doug, Phillip, 
Warren, Bill, Reg, 
Patrick, Phillip, 
Ross, Jason, 
Glen, Ted, Keith, 
David, Jeff.

Although sadly 
we do not know 
the stories of 
all 23 of these 
names, we are 
immensely proud 
to honour them 
and are grateful 
for their sacrifice 
and dedication to 
QPP

QPP 10th Birthday

Queensland AIDS Memorial Quilt
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2003 2005 2008
20062004

Queensland Positive People 
officially incorporated on 
5 December. This marked 
a significant step forward, 
as it gave QPP the right 
to advocate directly with 
Queensland Health on issues 
and services relating to HIV. 
As a newly incorporated 
organisation, QPP 
successfully secured a tender 
for the HIV Positive Education 
and Support Program 
to fund a small range of 
peer-support services. 
The Health Enhancement 
and Monitoring Project 
(HEMP) commenced to 
coordinate service-delivery 
and community support 
initiatives.

In 2004, QPP welcomed Simon O’Connor to the role of CEO 
(then called General Manager) of QPP, a position which he held 
for 15 years. Simon worked with the community to fortify QPP’s 
position as an independent community organisation, successfully 
increased funding, restructured the Board and recruited many 
staff, who all have been integral to QPP’s success. QPP and the 
community are forever grateful to Simon for his many years of 
commitment, passion, dedication and comradery.

Founded by David Birmingham
and Simon O’Connor on 1 February, the Hats Off Positive 
Endeavour (HOPE) was established to provide goods and 
other services to PLHIV in need. Donations to the fund are 
made by generous individuals as well as proceeds raised 
from World AIDS Day. The HOPE Fund is still in operation 
today.

Queensland’s first Planet Positive social event 
was held at the Pavillion at Southbank in 
2005. Many PLHIV at the time were on the 
DSP pension and simply couldn’t afford a night 

out. Planet Positive was an opportunity 
to get together and connect with the 
community.

The QPSB was a not-for-profit, 
collaborative partnership, formally 
established in 2008 that facilitated 
public speaking programs nourished 
by the lived experiences of people 
living with HIV and Hepatitis. 
Engagements aimed to empower 
individuals and the audience to assist 

in breaking down stigma 
and discrimination.

Incorporation

Simon O’Connor
The HOPE Fund

Planet Positive Brisbane

QLD Positive Speakers Bureau
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Queensland Positive People 30th Anniversary

2010
20172014

2016
2009

QPP celebrated its 21st birthday with a Planet 
Positive social event on 1 October at Brisbane’s 
Shafston Hotel. One-hundred guests attended and 
speakers included representatives from Queensland 

Health and NAPWHA. 
Another massive milestone 
for QPP!

In 2009, QPP acquired a 
new home at 21 Manilla 
St East Brisbane. After 18 months of 
extensive renovations and disruptions 
to the office, the new State Resource 
Centre was officially opened on 29 May. 
QPP were joined by the Parliamentary 
Secretary for Health, Murray Watt MP 
to officially open the building with a 
ceremonial plaque. This is the first time 
in QPPs history that we have owned our 
own building and were the first state-
based PLHIV organisation to achieve this 
incredible feat.

Queensland’s first RAPID HIV  
testing clinic in Fortitude Valley 
opened its doors in partnership 
between QPP, HIV Foundation 
Queensland (HIVFQ) and 
Queensland Health. RAPID 
provides free, rapid HIV and 
STI testing with results in only 20 
minutes, facilitated by trained 
peers.

QPP were awarded a grant to oversee and 
manage the HIV Emergency Treatment 
Fund, which provides emergency funding 
for HIV-related treatment and services 
to PLHIV in need. Due to the success, 
Queensland Health has continued to 
support this fund.

With funding from Queensland Health, 
QPP created a dynamic, new Life+ Pro-
gram. LIFE+ continues to support PLHIV 
in Queensland through treatment and 
support services, Peer Navigation, 
stigma and discrimination services and 
information and 
resources.

QPP 21st Birthday

21 Manilla Street RAPID

Emergency Treatment Fund

LIFE+ Program
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QPP celebrated its 30th Birthday at Manilla St, East Brisbane on 29 November. Approximately 90 guests attended including 
current and past staff, Board and volunteers, QPP members, community groups and Department of Health representatives. The 
incredible stories told on the night were truly a testament to QPP’s achievements over the last thirty years, and several attendees 
who were present in the 80’s and 90’s shared stories of the early days at Allen St. The overwhelming highlight of the evening 
was the presence and heart-warming speech delivered by Sister Angela Mary Doyle, a champion for PLHIV in Queensland. 
Melissa Warner, who this year we welcomed as QPP’s CEO spoke about our visions for 2020 and beyond. Many attendees 
expressed their thanks on the night, and several wrote by email to congratulate and commend QPP for a wonderful evening.

QPP has continued to grow over the past thirty years, and we are immensely grateful for the humbling array of support we have 
received to date. In the early days it was from generous and compassionate people and organisations such as the Sisters of 
Mercy, The Queensland AIDS Council (QuAC) and an amazing host of wonderful carers, volunteers and staff. The Queensland 
government – and specifically Queensland Health – has played a crucial role in encouraging, supporting and believing in 
QPP to get to where we are today. Thank you to everyone who has helped build and shape our fantastic organisation and we 
are excited to see what the future holds.

QPP Celebrates its 30th Birthday

2019
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We need you and welcome you to become a member of QPP. Both individuals and or-
ganisations are able to become QPP members at no cost.

All members receive benefits such as organisational and board news, special notices 
and invites to exclusive organisational events e.g. the 30th Anniversary Celebration. 

We welcome you to join us in supporting the delivery of services and support for PLHIV 
across Queensland. As an ordinary member, you will:

 gain voting rights at our Annual General Meeting;
 attain eligibility to be a sitting Board Member of QPP;
 never miss out on events specifically targeting PLHIV;
 consultation and participation;
 be kept informed on all the latest national and international news about HIV;
 have more opportunities to meet and connect with other PLHIV;
 and much more!

Become a QPP Member 

Time Period Total Ordinary Associate
% of change from 

previous year

2019-2020 607 2019-2020 205 +11.5%

2018-2019 544 2019-2020 202 +7.11%

2017-2018 482 2019-2020 193 +12.86%

2016-2017 450 2019-2020 187 +11.58%

Above: QPP Membership statistics.

To become a member, just give us a quick call on 1800 636 
241, or email us at memberservices@qpp.org.au and ask for a 

membership form to be sent to you today.
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Above: QPP Honour Board

QPP’s Honour Board recognises those who have demonstrated exceptional service and contributions for 
people living with HIV in Queensland. 

Any individual who has made a significant contribution to QPP or the PLHIV community are eligible for 
nomination. 

Eligible persons may include former volunteers, past staff and board members and allies. Posthumous 
nominations are also eligible. 

In 2019/2020 the new, formal Honour Board at Manilla Street was unveiled, featuring the first awarded 
recipients. These individuals are:

     Reg Carnell
 Sister Angela Mary Doyle AO
 David Bermingham

QPP Honour Board

To nominate someone, please read the factsheet 
and complete a nomination form at https://www.

qpp.org.au/honour
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QPP administers three (3) funds that aim to support PLHIV:

 The HOPE Fund
 Hope Fund +
 Emergency Treatment Fund

Funding Relief for PHLIV

The Hats Off Positive Endeavour (HOPE) Fund was established in 2006 to provide 
small grants of goods and services to PLHIV in Queensland who are experiencing 
financial hardship. The HOPE Fund is a community initiative that supports PLHIV who 
have demonstrated material need and/or are looking to improve their lives. It is 
unique among all the charitable funds available in Australia, not only in the range of 
goods and services it provides but the conditions for access. It receives no government 
funding, and all funds are donated through proceeds from World AIDS Day, community 
fundraising events, and private donations from individuals and businesses.
 
The fund was co-founded by David Birmingham and Simon O’Connor, and is an 
initiative of Oz Showbiz Cares/Equity Fights AIDS and QPP in partnership with the 
Queensland Council for LGBTIQ Health (QC), formerly known as the Queensland 
AIDS Council (QuAC).  A representative from each organisation make up The HOPE 
Fund Committee, which makes decisions on the outcome of each application. 

To see if you are eligible to apply, please visit the QPP website  
qpp.org.au/living-hiv-staying-healthy/hope-fund, 

email hopefund@qpp.org.au or call 073013 5555 for the 
application guidelines if you wish to apply.

What is the HOPE fund?

Who is eligible to apply to the HOPE fund?
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The balance of The HOPE Fund at 30 June 2020, after all grants were awarded and 
paid is $133,661.64.

Total HOPE Fund grants awarded to the community

Individual grants awarded by The HOPE Fund

* calculated on approved applications that have had funds distributed within the financial year only.

Donations made to The Hope Fund

Source $ Amount

Total Donations $2,563.08

Interest $377.69

Total Income $2,940.77



“

“

2018/2019 2019/2020

37 40

30 33

$32,520.91 

$20,000.00

$1,084.03

$27,596.20

NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS RECEIVED

SUCCESSFUL APPLICANTS

TOTAL AMOUNT AWARDED TO INDIVIDUALS

HOPE FUND+ GRANT

AVERAGE AMOUNT AWARDED TO INDIVIDUALS

-

$836.25

Number of applications and grants provided for this financial 
year compared with last financial year. 

Thank you from The HOPE Fund recipients

“Can I just say without the HOPE fund and definitely the assistance of the 
Treatment Support team. Let’s just say nobody had any idea what we would 
have to be living through over the last couple of months. Being stuck in isolation 
would have really been almost intolerable without the assistance of the hope fund 
with the refrigerator and the bed. Those two items were essential when it came to 
building myself a safe and peaceful environment to live in. Even the HOPE Fund 
Administrator was a great help getting it all organized and answering any follow 
up questions. Now I’m starting to build a savings buffer account and my next 
goal is to acquire myself a sofa for the lounge room.

I can’t thank you guys enough for the assistance you provided me a little over 
2 months ago. I hope everybody is staying safe and washing their hands. And 
don’t forget to tell the ones you love that they matter to you every now and then, 
during these tough times.” 

“After a month, I already feel so much happier in this new area and getting used 
to my surroundings and I have an appointment at Brisbane children’s hospital 
next week and it’s almost like a novelty to drive 30 minutes instead of 4 hours. I 
can’t wait to get involved in social groups soon also.”  
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How can I make a donation to The Hope Fund?

Each year The HOPE Fund gives out tens of thousands of dollars in grants to PLHIV to improve their quality 
of life and capacity to help others. Older members of our community will remember the first days when 
medication began to win the fight against HIV. People, believing their end of life was near would give away 
much of the worldly possessions, would suddenly make miraculous recoveries and find themselves with little 
but their health. This was where The HOPE Fund emerged to rebuild lives filled with dignity and compassion. 

Today, the fund helps a different demographic of PLHIV, including newly diagnosed people trying to get 
back on their feet after going through diagnosis alone, new migrants trying to find a safer, healthier life, and 
people wanting to reskill to provide for themselves and their families. The transition from the crucible of the 
HIV epidemic to ensuring help for those remaining people has been essential in providing a positive future 
for everyone in our community.

Over the years, we’ve received sums of money from all over our community for which we are eternally 
grateful. In recent years, while the need for basics such as refrigerators, driving lessons, and beds has 
remained steady, incoming donations to The HOPE Fund have not. 

QPP administers The HOPE Fund and is the accountable body. A volunteer administrator provides support to 
The HOPE Fund, including receiving applications, liaising with applicants and making payments.  

Tax deductible donations can be made to The HOPE Fund direct to Queensland Positive People (as admin-
istrators of the Fund).  You can also contribute to The HOPE Fund by attending a ‘Hats Off’ event or giving 
a gold coin donation for a World AIDS Day red ribbon.  Look out for The HOPE Fund fundraising activities 
throughout the year.

Help us keep The HOPE Fund running

In 2017, the HOPE Fund provided a one-off donation of $20,000 and created HOPE Fund +. QPP had 
identified that other emergency relief funds were not able to meet the broad range of needs experienced by 
PLHIV, which was often resulting in poorer health outcomes for some of our clients. Not all clients accessing 
QPP services were eligible to access the available funds and the funded types of support available did not 
always meet client needs.

Initiatives and innovations such as HOPE Fund+ are ways in which we can realise the organisation’s vision 
and are not possible without the amazing work of our team in support. As our vision as an organisation 
implies, we hope that this fund will continue to add to health and well-being of the clients we are here to 
serve!

HOPE FUND 

In the past year, HOPE Fund+ has provided $2280.50 in finanial 
support for PLHIV around Queensland.

Thank you to The HOPE Fund, from everyone at QPP!

+
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The HIV Emergency Treatment Fund (ETF) is funded by the Queensland Department of 
Health and managed by Queensland Positive People (QPP). The fund aims to provide 
emergency funding for all PLHIV residing in Queensland (including Medicare ineligible 
PLHIV) who are experiencing financial hardship, to support early and ongoing 
engagement in HIV related treatment and services.

The ETF provides short-term financial assistance with the following:

 clinical consultations for Medicare ineligible PLHIV;
 medication and co-payments;
 food; 
 communication e.g. phones and credit;
 travel; 
 accommodation;
 other miscellaneous costs that may adversely affect adherence to medication.

In the early stages of 2020, the ETF committee obtained additional funding to further 
support PLHIV in Queensland. This increase in funding was vital as the unfolding 
COVID-19 pandemic increased the likelihood of Medicare ineligible PLHIV being 
displaced in Queensland as a result of travel restrictions. The COVID-19 pandemic has  
resulted in everyone experiencing financial insecurity and financial hardship. In this 
current climate, the ETF aims to alleviate some of these stressors. 

Emergency Treatment Fund  

2018/2019 2019/2020

47 125

$6,488.37 $25,053.22

NUMBER OF INDIVIDUALS SUPPORTED

TOTAL AMOUNT AWARDED TO INDIVIDUALS

During the 2019-2020 financial year, the Emergency 
Treatment Fund provided $25,053.22 of financial 
assistance to 125 PLHIV residing in Queensland. 

118 of these people were Medicare eligible and 7 
were ineligible.

ETF Statistics 2018/2019 - 2019/2020
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QPP wishes to acknowledge and express our thanks to each and every one of our 
generous and willing volunteers and students.  You are remarkable and we appreciate 
you.

Volunteers reflect compassion, selfless caring, patience and are simply, love in motion.  
Our student placements have also had outstanding involvement in our work and have 
contributed greatly to projects.

It is with your genuine efforts and unrelenting support for our community that we have 
been able to continue to grow from strength to strength.  It’s been a privilege to work 
with each of you, as we are collectively committed with passion and vision to improve 
the health and wellbeing our communities.

For this and much more, we are very grateful and offer our deepest appreciation.

“How wonderful it is that nobody 
need wait a single moment before 

starting to improve the world.” 
 – Anne Frank

Thank You to All QPP 
Volunteers and Students 



2019 marked the 30th Anniversary of the Citizens Welfare Committee (CWC) Charity Cabaret. Back in 
1989 a group of amazing people came together to form the CWC to raise money for PLHIV/AIDS. Three 
decades later, CWC is still going strong and continuing to support the community.  

Over the 30 years, CWC has coordinated over 800 drag queens to grace the stage, performing often for 
the first time in front of a crowd.

A huge 30th Anniversary celebration was held at The Sportsman’s Hotel on Saturday, 30 November with 
over 30 past and present drag queens performing. This event raised $2,144.10. We are very grateful 
for the continuing support of CWC, Brisbane and all the people involved in organising and attending 
this event. The proceeds help provide peer support activities, such as events, that foster empowerment 
and resilience by enhancing self-esteem and social connectedness among our diverse, and sometimes 
isolated, PLHIV community.

The focus of CWC has stayed true to its conception, with all performers donating their time - including the 
backbone of the event CWC MC Betty Nature who has been involved since 2004.  The evenings always 
dish up a delicious array of drag identities from all Brisbane queer venues, as well as performances by 
some of Queensland’s best-loved performers from years gone by.

As we aim to end HIV transmissions in Queensland, the CWC remembers and supports those living with 
HIV, and reminds us that HIV will remain an important focus of our communities for decades to come. 

CWC Celebrates 30th Anniversary 
Milestone
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World AIDS Day (WAD) is a globally recognised event 
held annually on 1st December. Historically, the event 
was a key fundraising opportunity with the aim to raise 
awareness about issues surrounding HIV/AIDS and to 
commemorate those individuals who have lost their lives 
to AIDS.  The first World AIDS Day was held in 1988 
and the red ribbon is the associated awareness-raising 
symbol. While fundraising is no longer a primary focus, 
any funds raised for WAD across Queensland are 
donated to The HOPE Fund.

QPP coordinates the Queensland World AIDS Day 
Alliance (QWADA), which was established in 2005. 
This is a collaboration between a number of Queensland 
NGOs and Queensland Health, which ensures the 
successful delivery of World AIDS Day activities and 
coordination of planning for the distribution of resources, 
advertising and events. 

The theme for the World AIDS Day 2019 was Every 
Journey Counts. The aim was to encourage all Australians 
to educate themselves and others about HIV; to take 
action to reduce the transmission of HIV by promoting 
prevention strategies; and to ensure that PLHIV can 

participate fully in the life of the community, free from 
stigma and discrimination. The Queensland World 
AIDS Day campaign was a major success and QPP 
coordinated the following activities:

     lighting of prominent buildings in RED   
 throughout Queensland including the Story  
 Bridge, Victoria Bridge, Reddacliff Place,   
 Brisbane City Hall, King George Square and  
 the Qld Performing Arts Centre;
     William Jolly Bridge, Brisbane awash in red  
 ribbons  and members of the Queensland   
 Ambulance and Queensland Police Service  
 wearing red ribbons;
 numerous events throughout the state   
 including markets, BBQs, dinners, information  
 stalls, candlelight vigils, RED Run – just to   
 name a few;  
 light pole banners in Brisbane, Gold Coast,  
 Sunshine Coast and Ipswich;
      Pharmacy Guild Promotion – working with  
 over 90 pharmacies throughout Queensland;  
 and
      bus advertising throughout Brisbane.

Regional grants that were supported through WAD activities:

 Everybody Counts Community Breakfast - Inala, Logan and Cleveland;
 World AIDS Day Morning Tea - Gold Coast;
 Candlelight Vigil – Cairns;
 World AIDS Day Awareness Stall - Mt Isa;
 World AIDS Day Awareness Stall – Mabuiag; and
 World AIDS Day Morning Tea - Moa Island. 

We thank those who supported World AIDS Day 2019. The success of this year’s campaign would not have been 
possible without your unwavering support. Whether you purchased a ribbon, volunteered or attended an event, we 
thank you. Your commitment and generosity is what brings this campaign to life.

World AIDS Day 2019 

Above: William Jolly Bridge World AIDS Day lighting display.

Page 47



NAPWHA’s work over the last year focused largely on advocating on behalf of PLHIV within 
government and research bodies; on mobilising our State and Territory operational leadership 
of PLHIV networks on numerous key issues; and finally, responding to the unfolding COVID-19 
pandemic, which had major impact on our communities and continues to shroud us all globally in 
2020. 

Late in 2019 NAPWHA published, in collaboration with the HIV Justice Network in 2019, an audit 
into the use of mandatory HIV testing laws in Australia. The report ‘The System is Broken’, contributes 
to a mounting body of evidence that shows that mandatory testing laws are at odds with the highly 
successful HIV response we have so far achieved in Australia, which consistently maintains high 
uptake of voluntary HIV testing by priority populations. NAPWHA presented the findings of the 
report at the 2019 Australasian HIV&AIDS Conference held in Perth. 

NAPWHA held a face-to-face National Members Forum in November 2019 at which we delivered 
on NAPWHA’s ongoing commitment to bring together HIV positive community representatives, and 
the leadership of our member organisations, to ensure the meaningful engagement of people living 
with HIV informs everything that we do. This was followed in May 2020 by the first of our online 
National Member Forums; which marks the beginning of a process to develop ways for the Body 
Positive to maintain its regular connection throughout the COVID-19 emergency.

Positive Aboriginal Torres Strait Islander Network (PATSIN) continued to meet throughout this 
period. Most recently in June 2020 to discuss the Black Lives Matter protest actions taking place 
in Australia. As a result of the hard work of PATSIN, in that meeting a powerful call-to-action was 
issued to coincide with the Black Lives Matter protests that were happening around Australia.

The National Association of People 
with HIV Australia (NAPWHA):

Australia’s peak organisation representing community-based 
groups of PLHIV.
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The NAPWHA Operational Leadership Group (OLG) continued to advocate on a key range of 
policy issues. This included the publication and launch of the Australian HIV Peer Support Standards. 
The standards describe the requisite skills and competencies of an HIV peer supporter, what can be 
expected of evidence-informed practice of peer support programs and the benefit that peer support 
brings to PLHIV. An online learning module using the standards will be developed in the coming 
year.

An important forum of the National Network of Women with HIV from across Australia met in 
Sydney on 10 March following the 5th National Day of Women Living with HIV.  The forum 
provided an opportunity for women living with HIV to connect, share information, learn from each 
other and provide feedback to NAPWHA. Discussion was focused on the question ‘How do we 
deliver women living with HIV in 2020 and beyond.

The NAPWHA HIV Health Literacy Framework project (HLF) appointed several community 
advocates, including QPP’s Lara. The HLF continued its research into how best to support an improved 
health conversation between women living with HIV and their peers. The project will implement 
specific health literacy initiatives tailored towards HIV positive women in 2020; including one that 
addresses breastfeeding options.  

The NAPWHA Treatment Officer Network (TON), responding to the impact of COVID-19, held 
their meetings via video conferencing. They most recently shared information about maintaining 
clinical and social support for PLHIV during COVID related disruptions to frontline services.

The impact of COVID-19 on our lives and work cannot be understated. As early as February 
2020, NAPWHA was developing and sharing important information for PLHIV about the unfolding 
pandemic. We published several factsheets with our partners AFAO and ASHM about making 
sense of COVID-19 and also reassuring PLHIV about ARV treatment supply and access during the 
COVID crisis.  

In April 2020, at the height of the first-wave of COVID-19 in Australia, NAPWHA sought to connect 
directly with PLHIV via a survey to gather information on the impact of COVID-19. The findings of 
the survey allowed us to respond to key COVID related challenges facing PLHIV including social 
isolation, the need for meaningful interaction and emerging financial hardships. As a result, we 
launched two important initiatives:

 The CHINWAG: Positive Connections is a safe, inclusive and dynamic virtual space.   
 Every Friday, for one hour, sector personality Vanessa Wagner hosts a Zoom   
 video conference event alongside a team of HIV Peer supporters from NAPWHA and its  
 members.

 The ARV relief fund is a support fund for PLHIV whose income had dropped during   
 the COVID-19 pandemic, and who are still paying full price co-payments for HIV   
 medications. NAPWHA, through its member organisations is able to assist with a one-off  
 payment to cover a four-month supply of HIV ARV. 
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 AFAO
 ASHM
 Bernard Gardiner 
 Bodyline Spa and Sauna
 Brisbane Barrel Hire
 Brisbane Sexual Health and HIV Service
 Cairns Sexual Health Service 
 Canvas Club/Electric Avenue
 Carbon Catering
 Cepheid
 ChilliDB
 Coast to Bay Housing (Nambour office)
 Code Blue
 Connect Housing (Mackay office)
 Copperhead Media
 Corporate Traveller
 Damien Martin (IndigiPrograms)
 Daniel Reeders
 David Bermingham
 Diverse Voices
 Dr Andrew Redmond
 Dr Darren Russell
 Dr David Siebert
 Dr Graham Brown (La Trobe)
 ECCQ
 Elan Medical Supplies (Beenleigh Office)
 Freedom Migration
 Gai Lemon
 Geoff Manu
 Gilead (Damian Fagan)
 Gilead Fellowship Program
 Gold Coast Sexual Health Service
 Harrisons Human Resources 
 Hepatitis Queensland
 HIV Public Health Team
 HIV/AIDS Legal Centre (HALC)
 Jason O’Connor Auditor
 JBS Bookkeeping
 Jen Power (La Trobe)
 Jess Solomon 
 Joe Debattista (Metro North Public Health Unit)
 Justin Clarke and the team from McGees Property
 LaBoite Theatre
 LCM Air Conditioning
 LGBTIQ Legal Services
 Light and Shade
 Living Positive Victoria
 Mackay Sexual Health Service
 Maximise your Communications, Neil Brimson 
 Media Heroes
 McCullough Robertson Lawyers

 Michael Brown 
 Michele Tobin 
 Mt Isa Sexual Health Service
 NAPWHA
 Noosa Chocolate Factory 
 Number 29 Cruise Club 
 Open Doors
 Performers at CWC
 Peter Noble 
 Phil Carswell
 Pineapple Hotel
 PLDI
 Positive Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander  
 Network (PATSIN)
 Positive Life NSW
 Positive Women Victoria
 Princess Alexandra Sexual Health 
 QCSEA 
 Queensland Aboriginal and Islander Health Council
 Queensland Council for LGBTI Health (QC) 
 Queensland Health 
 QuIHN
 Queensland s100 prescribing GP’s
 Queensland Sexual Health Ministerial 
 Advisory Committee 
 Queensland University of Technology 
 QWADA
 Raj Singh Accounting 
 RBWHID
 Rockhampton Sexual Health Service
 Sexual Health Society of Queensland
 Simon O’Connor
 Sportsman’s Hotel
 Studio Pilates
 Sunshine Coast Sexual Health Service
 The Hon Michael Kirby AC CMG
 The Room Graphic Design
 Toowoomba Sexual Health Service
 Townsville Sexual Health Service
 Tropical Public Health Unit
 University of Queensland – School of Public Health  
 (Charlie Gilks, Lisa Fitzgerald, Judith Dean, Allyson  
 Mutch, Sara Bell, Owain Williams, Coral Gartner,  
 Stephanie Bell, Olivia Hollingdrake) & Student Help  
 on Campus (SHOC)
 University of Southern Queensland, Dr Amy Mullens  
 Kirstie Daken, Adina Piovesana
 Viiv Healthcare (Bill Patterson/Fraser Drummond)
 Volunteers 
 Wet Spa and Sauna
 Wuchopperen Health Service

2019 -2020 Acknowledgements
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QPP celebrates the partnerships we have with several Queensland and national academic institutions and 
research centres. We have contributed to clinical, public health and social sciences HIV and sexual health 
research. 

In September 2019 at the Australasian Society of HIV Medicine (ASHM) conference in Perth, QPP was 
successful with having six co-authored abstracts accepted for the conference, these  which were delivered 
by either oral presentation or poster. Other abstracts accepted were for conferences in Krokow (Poland), 
Portland, (USA) and Melbourne (AUST). 

Conference presentations and publications covered several of QPP collaborative research projects including 
Living Positive Queensland, Peer Navigation Evaluation, Testing to Treatment Trajectory (T2T) and GeneXpert.

Partnerships in Supporting Innovative 
HIV Research

http://www.hivaidsconference.com.au/program/ StudiesType

1

2

3

4

5

6

Fitzgerald L, Mutch A, Howard C, Vallely, A, Whittaker A. “Is 
it HIV or Just Old Age?” Uncertainties of ‘Successful’ Ageing 
with HIV

Mutch A, Fitzgerald L, Howard C, Istiko S, Khalpey Z, Han-
nan K, Dean J. Peer Navigation: Experiences of Stakeholders 

Hollingdrake O, Dean, J, Mutch A, Lui C-W, Howard C, 
Fitzgerald L. From diagnosis to living well with HIV: The pivotal 
role of peer support networks. 

Bell SFE, Badman SG, Dean JA, Coffey L, Debattista J, Redmond 
AM Howard C, Lemoire J, Williams OD, Gilks CF, Whiley DM. 
Evaluation Of Reduced Pooled Urine Volume To Improve Test 
Sensitivity For Molecular Point-Of-Care Detection Of Chlamydia 
And Gonorrhoea – Preliminary Results. 

Fitzgerald L, Mutch A , Dean, J, Wui CW, Howard C, Lemoire 
J, Mao LM, Whittaker A. HIV is a chronic condition but diag-
nosis remains a critical point of care: experiences of newly 
diagnosed PLHIV in Queensland.

Mutch A, Fitzgerald L, Howard C, Istiko S, Khalpey Z, Hannan K, 
Dean J. Evaluating a Community Based Peer Navigation Program for 
People Recently Diagnosed With HIV. 

Oral Living Positive 
Queensland

Peer Navigation 
Evaluation 

Peer Navigation 
Evaluation 

GeneX

Testing to Treatment 
Trajectory Queensland 

(T2TQ) 

Testing to Treatment 
Trajectory Queensland 

(T2TQ) 

Oral

Oral

Rapid Fire

Poster

Poster

2019 Joint Australasian Sexual Health and HIV & AIDS Conference, 
Perth, September 16-19 
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In collaboration with UQ, Queensland Health, and the University of New South Wales, this 
research project seeks to further validate a novel pooling methodology of combining client samples 
for the purposes of chlamydia and gonorrhoea testing to assess performance and feasibility using 
GeneXpert technology. 

In collaboration with UQ and Queensland Health, this study seeks to address important gaps in 
understandings of acceptable and feasible ways of integrating HIV self-testing into the existing suite 
of HIV testing options. It is hoped that the findings will further inform the actions needed to enhance 
public access to HIV self-testing for men who have sex with men and other communities wishing to 
use this technology in Queensland, and Australia more broadly, and without having to interface 
with a service provider unless they choose to. 

In collaboration with both the Metro North Sexual Health and HIV Service and the Metro North 
Public Health Unit, this project seeks to expand the existing suite of service delivery provided within 
the RAPID clinic, extending it to include the provision of STI treatment onsite. This is achieved through 
a nurse-led outreach clinic operated by the Brisbane Sexual Health and HIV Service. It is intended 
that this project will provide a seamless referral from RAPID testing to the nurse clinician, after the 
diagnosis of STIs for treatment and follow-up – improving patient outcomes and onward transmission.

Ongoing Research Projects:

GeneXpert Pooling Study

HIV Self-Test Vending Machine

From Test to Treatment 



LPQ is principally a partnership between UQ and QPP including other research partners. This study 
has followed the lives of 73 PLHIV across Queensland through a series of qualitative interviews for 
the last four years and finished in late 2016.  LPQ specifically aimed to understand the complexities 
of the relationship between the experiences of HIV, aging and other social determinants of 
health. It also examines the experiences of social isolation of PLHIV in rural and regional settings 
in Queensland including the effects on issues such as stigma, sexual negotiation and prejudice. 
Several conference papers and publications have resulted, and an oral abstract accepted for 
presentation at the International AIDS Society conference in San Francisco 2020. 

“Living Positive in Queensland: a qualitative longitudinal study of aging, 
place and social isolation (LPQ)”
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T2T as it is affectionately known, is a collaboration between UQ, Monash University and the 
University of New South Wales. This study aims to better understand factors influencing uptake and 
adherence to HIV testing and treatment in diverse communities in Queensland.  The findings of the 
study will inform planning for improving QPP services over the coming year. The study has gathered 
information from people newly diagnosed in the last five years and learned about their experiences 
with HIV testing and diagnosis through to linkage to care and treatment initiation. The study has 
focused on issues or concerns that affect adherence to treatment and retention to care over time. 
Several conference presentations and publications have resulted from this research in the past year.

“T2TQ: Factors influencing the HIV testing to treatment 
trajectory within a Queensland context 2015”

RISE, led by the Kirby institute is a national research study in collaboration with community 
organisations, health departments and researchers across eight Australian jurisdictions. The study 
aims to explore experiences of being diagnosed with HIV, investigate the impact of accessing HIV 
support services on people’s overall well-being, their access to HIV clinical care, and their uptake 
of HIV treatments.

‘RISE’ 

QPP has continued its support and promotion of the study to people newly 
diagnosed in Queensland and continues its representation and participation 

on the national advisory group. 
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New Research 2019 - 2020:

This study is funded through the Queensland Sexual Health Research Fund. QPP has 
partnered with QUT, True Relationships and Reproductive Health, Metro North Public 
Health and Ethnic Communities Council. This study forms part of a national partnership 
between, national and state-based research and community organisations. The study 
aims to develop an understanding of people’s STI and BBV-related knowledge, attitudes, 
behaviour, and access to services in Queensland overseas-born communities, and to 
compare results across jurisdictions. Finally, the project will develop recommendations 
for health promotion and public health initiatives that seek to improve STI and BBV 
outcomes for Queensland people born overseas. 

QPP has partnered with University of Southern Queensland and the University of 
New South Wales to engage a project to enhance referral pathways, workforce, and 
capacity for HIV-Associated Neurocognitive Disorders (HAND) assessment for PLHIV 
across Queensland. 

The research study has been funded through the Queensland Sexual Health Research 
Fund. The study aims to assess current practices, referral pathways and resources 
available in Queensland other states/territories; identify gaps, barriers, and challenges 
and potential innovation, develop QLD-based resources for university clinics and other 
health providers to improve referral pathways and capacity for HAND screening 
assessments, improve workforce development through education, training, and 
continual professional supervision and deliver HAND-screening assessments at various 
sites, receiving referrals from QPP and other industry partners and key stakeholders

Reducing disparities for Australian culturally and linguistically 
diverse overseas-born people in relation to sexual health and 
blood-borne viruses: Queensland sub-study

Reducing disparities for Australian culturally and linguistically 
diverse overseas-born people in relation to sexual health and 
blood-borne viruses: Queensland sub-study
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Other Abstracts and Publications

Fitzgerald, Mutch, Howard (2020) Accepted, “Agentic practices to contend with HIV 
citizenship within a biomedicalised era” ESA RN16 Conference in Krakow. Health 
and health care in Europe: between inequalities and new opportunities Jagiellonian 
University, Kraków, Poland (Postponed due to COVID-19) – LPQ and T2TQ

Fitzgerald, L and Mutch, A. & Howard, C.  (2019) “Is it HIV or just old age?” How is 
Australia’s first generation of PLHIV living in rural and regional Queensland experiencing 
ageing? Ageing with Pride Conference, Melbourne Oct 24-25, 2019 – LPQ

2019 Hollingdrake O, Dean, J, Lui C-W, Mutch A, Howard C, Fitzgerald L. Finding 
support beyond the clinic: Exploring social support networks of people recently 
diagnosed with HIV. Association of Nurses in AIDS Care 32nd Annual Conference. 
ANAC 2019: Portland, November 7-9, 2019 ∙ Portland Marriott Downtown Waterfront. 
(oral) – T2TQ

Badman, Steven G., Bell, Sara F. E., Dean, Judith A., Lemoire, Jime, Coffey, Luke, 
Debattista, Joseph, Redmond, Andrew M., Williams, Owain D., Gilks, Charles F. and 
Whiley, David M. (2020). Reduced sensitivity from pooled urine, pharyngeal and 
rectal specimens when using a molecular assay for the detection of chlamydia and 
gonorrhoea near the point of care. Sexual Health, 17 (1) 15-21. doi:10.1071/sh19028

Sara Bell, Luke Coffey, Joseph Debattista, Steven Badman, Andrew Redmond, David 
Whiley, Jime Lemoire, Owain Williams, Chris Howard, Charles Gilks, Judith Dean. 
(2020). Peer delivered point-of-care testing for Chlamydia trachomatis and Neisseria 
gonorrhoea within an urban community setting: a cross sectional analysis. Sexual 
Health. Published online: June 11th, 2020.

“Is it HIV or just old age?” How Australia’s first generation of PLHIV are experiencing 
ageing” Fitzgerald L, Howard C, Whittaker A, Herron L, Hannan K and Mutch A.
School of Public Health, University of Queensland, Queensland Positive People, School 
of Social Sciences, Monash University 

Hollingdrake, Olivia (2020). Social Support Networks of People Recently Diagnosed 
with HIV in Queensland: A Qualitative Exploration. PhD Thesis, School of Public Health, 
The University of Queensland
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
Page 2 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

   2020   2019  
  Notes  $   $  

    
INCOME     
ATO Cash flow boost  62,500 - 
ATO Job Keeper   207,000 - 
Fundraising and donations  22,311 19,589 
Grants received - State  3,663,821 3,358,090 
Interest received   4,061 6,109 
Rental income   73,297 111,593 
Sundry income  23,132 22,617 
Total Income   4,056,122 3,517,998 

    
EXPENDITURE    
Accounting fees  96,482 84,343 
Advertising and Promotions  25,599 85,132 
Clinic consumables  164,913 234,919 
Complex client care fund  75,582 19,353 
Computer, software, and website  110,110 92,706 
Consultants and facilitators  76,413 201,048
Depreciation  59,951 51,134 
Employee entitlements  2,597,229 2,210,430 
Insurance  44,902 41,510 
Membership fees and subscriptions  4,148 9,968 
Motor vehicle expenses  30,484 31,800 
Occupancy costs  255,506 303,296 
Postage, printing, and stationery  22,999 34,260 
Repairs and maintenance  44,988 25,581 
Sundry expense  39,050 29,149 
Telephone, mobiles, and internet  28,825 54,471 
Training and development  51,392 23,450 
Travel expenses  73,021 79,898 
Total Expenditure   3,801,594 3,612,448 

    
Surplus / (Deficit) before income tax expense   254,528 (94,450) 
Income tax expense  1  - - 
Surplus after income tax expense for the year 
attributable to the members   254,528 (94,450) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax   - - 

    
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable 
to the members.   254,528 (94,450) 
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
Page 3 

Statement of financial position 
As at 30 June 2020 
 

   2020   2019  
  Notes  $   $  

    
CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash at bank  60,331 107,791 
Cash on deposit  1,909,450 1,661,283 
Prepayments  179,754 166,057 
Accounts receivables  6,972 3,630 
Other receivables  150 150 
Total Current Assets   2,156,657 1,938,911 

    
NON-CURRENT ASSETS    
Property, plant, and equipment 4 2,018,742 1,726,796 
Right-of-use assets   489,189 - 
Total Non-Current Assets  2,507,931 1,726,796 
Total Assets   4,664,588 3,665,707 

    
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Accounts payables  140,857 101,277 
Accruals   53,203 180,957 
Grants received in advance  452,308 444,732 
GST payable  63,547 121,006 
Lease liabilities  264,808 - 
Other payables  17,005 3,432 
Provision for employee entitlements  154,310 134,069 
Superannuation payable  25,240 18,473 
Mortgage State of Queensland  2,000,000 2,000,000 
Total Current Liabilities   3,171,278 3,003,946 

    
NON-CURRENT LIABILITES    
Provision for employee entitlements 50,691 - 
Lease liabilities  273,300 - 
Total Non-Current Liabilities   323,991 - 
Total Liabilities  3,495,269 3,003,946 

    
Net Assets   1,169,319 661,761 

    
EQUITY    
Asset revaluation reserve  253,030 - 
Accumulated surplus 6 916,289 661,761 
Total Equity   1,169,319 661,761 
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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Statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

 

 Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve  
 Accumulated 

Surplus   Total  
   $   $   $  

    
    

Opening balance 1 July 2018 - 756,211 756,211 
Plus, surplus attributable to the members - (94,450) (94,450) 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  - - 
CLOSING BALANCE 30 JUNE 2019 - 661,761 661,761 

    
Opening balance 1 July 2019 - 661,761 661,761 
Plus, revaluation gains 253,030 - 253,030 
Plus, surplus attributable to the members - 254,528 254,528 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax - - - 
CLOSING BALANCE 30 JUNE 2020 253,030 916,289 1,169,319 
 

Statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 

   2020   2019  
   Note   $   $  

    
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Receipts from customers and grants  4,422,677 3,970,356 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (4,176,083) (3,554,349) 
Interest received   4,061 6,109 
Net Cash Flows Used by Operating Activities  5  250,655 422,116 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Payment for plant and equipment  (98,867) (40,908) 
Payment for right to use assets   (489,189) - 
Net Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities   (588,056) (40,908) 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  - - 
Proceeds for right to use assets  538,108 - 
Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities   538,108 - 

    
Net Increase in Cash Held   200,707 381,208 
Cash at the beginning of the year   1,769,074 1,387,866 
CASH AT THE END OF THE YEAR  5  1,969,781 1,769,074 
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Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 
 
NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
  
New or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The Association has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
  
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been 
early adopted. 
  
The adoption of these Accounting Standards and Interpretations did not have any significant impact on 
the financial performance or position of the Association. 
  
The following Accounting Standards and Interpretations are most relevant to the Association: 
 
AASB 16 Leases 
The Association has adopted AASB 16 from 1 July 2019. The standard replaces AASB 117 'Leases' and for 
lessees eliminates the classifications of operating leases and finance leases. Except for short-term leases 
and leases of low-value assets, right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities are recognised in the 
statement of financial position. Straight-line operating lease expense recognition is replaced with a 
depreciation charge for the right-of-use assets (included in operating costs) and an interest expense on 
the recognised lease liabilities (included in finance costs). In the earlier periods of the lease, the expenses 
associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when compared to lease expenses under AASB 
117. However, EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation) results improve as the 
operating expense is now replaced by interest expense and depreciation in profit or loss. For classification 
within the statement of cash flows, the interest portion is disclosed in operating activities and the principal 
portion of the lease payments are separately disclosed in financing activities. For lessor accounting, the 
standard does not substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases. 
  
Impact of adoption 
AASB 16 were adopted using the modified retrospective approach and as such comparatives have not 
been restated. There was no impact on opening retained profits as at 1 July 2019. 
 
Basis of preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB'), the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and 
associated regulations and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate for not-for-profit oriented entities. 

Historical cost convention 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 
 
Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Association's accounting 
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 
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Revenue recognition 
The Association recognises revenue as follows: 
  
Revenue from contracts with customers 
Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Association is expected 
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a 
customer, the Association: identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the performance obligations 
in the contract; determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable 
consideration and the time value of money; allocates the transaction price to the separate performance 
obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be 
delivered; and recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that 
depicts the transfer to the customer of the goods or services promised. 
  
Variable consideration within the transaction price, if any, reflects concessions provided to the customer 
such as discounts, rebates and refunds, any potential bonuses receivable from the customer and any other 
contingent events. Such estimates are determined using either the 'expected value' or 'most likely amount' 
method. The measurement of variable consideration is subject to a constraining principle whereby revenue 
will only be recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of 
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. The measurement constraint continues until the uncertainty 
associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved. Amounts received that are subject to 
the constraining principle are recognised as a refund liability. 
  
Sales revenue 
Events, fundraising, and raffles are recognised when received or receivable. 
  
Donations 
Donations are recognised at the time the pledge is made. 
  
Grants 
Grant revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the Association satisfies the performance obligations 
stated within the funding agreements. 
 
If conditions are attached to the grant which must be satisfied before the Association is eligible to retain 
the contribution, the grant will be recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability until those 
conditions are satisfied. 
  
Interest 
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant 
period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
  
Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 
 
Volunteer services 
The Association has elected not to recognise volunteer services as either revenue or other form of 
contribution received. As such, any related consumption or capitalisation of such resources received is also 
not recognised. 
  
Income tax 
As the Association is a charitable institution in terms of subsection 50-5 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 
1997, as amended, it is exempt from paying income tax. 
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Current and non-current classification 
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current 
classification. 
  
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed 
in the Association's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to 
be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless 
restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
All other assets are classified as non-current. 
  
A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the Association's normal 
operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after 
the reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 
  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 
  
Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
  
Trade and other receivables 
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any allowance for expected credit losses. 
 
Property, plant, and equipment 
Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
  
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant, 
and equipment (excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows: 
 
Buildings  40 years
Freehold improvements  15 years
Plant and equipment  3-7 years
Motor vehicles  5-7 years
Office equipment  3-5 years
 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each reporting date. 
  
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future 
economic benefit to the Association. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal 
proceeds are taken to profit or loss. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets 
Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by 
which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
  
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-
in-use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount 
rate specific to the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have 
independent cash flows are grouped together to form a cash-generating unit. 
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Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Association prior to the end of 
the financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised 
cost and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition. 
 
Employee benefits 
  
Short-term employee benefits 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
 
Other long-term employee benefits 
The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date are measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of 
services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. 
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and 
periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. 
  
Defined contribution superannuation expense 
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed in the period in which they are 
incurred. 
  
Fair value measurement 
When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure 
purposes, the fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that 
the transaction will take place either: in the principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in 
the most advantageous market. 
  
Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or 
liability, assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value 
measurement is based on its highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the 
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, are used, maximising the 
use of relevant observable inputs, and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses, and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 
incurred is not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 
  
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other 
payables in the statement of financial position. 
  
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating 
cash flows. 
  
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 
the tax authority. 
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NOTE 2: CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually 
evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue, and 
expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on 
other various factors, including expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related 
actual results. The judgements estimate and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next 
financial year are discussed below. 
  
Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 
Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has 
had, or may have, on the Association based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature 
of the products and services offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which 
the Association operates. Other than as addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be 
either any significant impact upon the financial statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to 
events or conditions which may impact the Association unfavourably as at the reporting date or 
subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic. 
  
Estimation of useful lives of assets 
The Association determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges 
for its property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change 
significantly as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation 
charge will increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete 
or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down. 
  
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
The Association assesses impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life 
intangible assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Association and to the 
particular asset that may lead to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is determined. This involves fair value less costs of disposal or value-in-use calculations, which 
incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions. 
 
Employee benefits provision 
As discussed in note 1, the liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from 
the reporting date are recognised and measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining the present value of the 
liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation have been 
considered. 
 

   2020   2019  
     $   $  

    
NOTE 3: AUDIT FEES    
Audit services  4,000 5,800 
Other services  - 2,500 
    4,000 8,300 
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   2020   2019  
     $   $  

    
NOTE 4: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT    
Property:    
Land at cost   - 1,007,273 

    
Buildings at cost  - 1,071,590 
Less accumulated depreciation   - (396,192) 

  - 675,398 
    
Land at fair value  1,104,000 - 
Buildings at fair value   796,000 - 

  1,900,000 - 
    
Leasehold improvements at cost  10,128 10,128 
Less accumulated depreciation   (4,853) (2,321) 

  5,275 7,807 
Total Property   1,905,275 1,690,478 

    
Plant and equipment:    
Plant and equipment at cost  246,081 147,214 
Less accumulated depreciation  (132,614) (110,896) 
    113,467 36,318 
Total Property, plant, and equipment   2,018,742 1,726,796 

    
b. Movements in carrying amounts    

2019:  Property  
 Plant and 
Equipment   Total  

Opening written down value  1,728,500 18,648 1,747,148 
Plus, additions  - 30,781 30,781 
Less depreciation and impairments (38,022) (13,111) (51,133) 
Less disposal - - - 
Closing Written Down Value 1,690,478 36,318 1,726,796 

    

2020:  Property  
 Plant and 
Equipment   Total  

Opening written down value  1,690,478 36,318 1,726,796 
Plus, additions  - 98,867 98,867 
Revaluation increment 253,030 - 253,030 
Less depreciation and impairments (38,233) (21,718) (59,951) 
Less disposal - - - 
Closing Written Down Value 1,905,275 113,467 2,018,742 
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   2020   2019  
     $   $  

    
NOTE 5: CASH FLOW INFORMATION    

    
a. Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating 
Activities with Surplus After Income Tax    

    
Surplus / (Deficit) attributable to the members  254,528 (94,450) 

    
Non-Cash Items 
Depreciation and impairments  59,951 51,134 

    
Changes in Assets and Liabilities    
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  (13,697) 120,940 
(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivables  (3,342) (1,655) 
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables - - 
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable  39,580 (85,892) 
Increase/(decrease) in accruals  (127,754) 110,779 
Increase/(decrease) in grants received in advance  7,576 341,301 
Increase/(decrease) in GST payable  (57,459) 60,407 
Increase/(decrease) in other payables  13,573 (12,229) 
Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements  70,932 (72,500) 
Increase/(decrease) in superannuation payable   6,767 4,281 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   250,655 422,116 

    
b. Reconciliation of Cash    

    
Cash on hand  - - 
Cash at bank   60,331 107,791 
Cash on deposit   1,909,450 1,661,283 

  1,969,781 1,769,074 
Less bank overdraft  - - 
Total Cash   1,969,781 1,769,074 

    
c. Non-cash items.    
There are no known noncash flows items for the years ended 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019 
    
NOTE 6: ACCUMULATED SURPLUS    

    
Opening balance   661,761 756,211 
Plus, surplus / (deficit) attributable to the members  254,528 (94,450) 
Closing balance   916,289 661,761 
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NOTE 7:  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Market risk 
Interest rate risk 
The Association is not exposed to any significant interest rate risk. 
 
NOTE 8:  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
The Association had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019. 
 
NOTE 9:  COMMITMENTS 
The Association had no commitments for expenditure as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019. 
 
NOTE 10:  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 11. 
 
Transactions with related parties 
There were no transactions with related parties during the current and previous financial year. 
 
Receivable from and payable to related parties 
There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the current and previous 
reporting date. 
 
Loans to/from related parties 
There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 
 

   2020   2019  
     $   $  

    
NOTE 11: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES     
Compensation    
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel  
of the Association is set out below:    
    
Short term employee benefits   416,818 444,371 
 
 
NOTE 12.  EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
 
The impact of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic is ongoing and while it has been financially positive 
for the Association up to 30 June 2020, it is not practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or 
negative, after the reporting date. The situation is rapidly developing and is dependent on measures 
imposed by the Australian Government and other countries, such as maintaining social distancing 
requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus that may be provided. 
  
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2020 that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect the Association's operations, the results of those operations, or the Association's state of 
affairs in future financial years. 
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NOTE 12: CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY    
 2019  2019   2019  

 $  $  $  
   Amended   Change    Original  

    
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Mortgage State of Queensland 2,000,000 2,000,000 - 

    
EQUITY    
Accumulated surplus 661,761 (2,000,000) 2,661,761 
 
The financial statements for the comparative year were prepared as special purpose financial statements 
without recognising the dollar value of the registered mortgage by the State of Queensland over Lot 1, 
Survey Plan 130882, Local Government: Brisbane City.  Under the registered Mortgage the Association 
defaults on the agreements if the Association fails to comply with its obligations under the Capital Funding 
Agreement. Under the Capital Funding Agreement dated the 22nd June 2006 the amount of the registered 
mortgaged in favour of the State of Queensland as Mortgagor was two million dollars. This registered 
mortgage is interest free.  
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Responsible Persons Declaration. 
 
Per section 60.15 of the Australian Charities and Non-for-Profits Commission Regulation 2013. 
 

1. the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the association's 
financial position as of 30 June 2020 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that 
date, 

2. there are reasonable grounds to believe that the association will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable. 

3. the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
Profits Commission Act 2012 and regulations.  

4. the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 
1981 and regulations.  

 
Signed in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Non-for-Profits Commission 
Regulation 2013. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
__________________________ 
President 
 

29 / 09 / 2020
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Independent audit report 
 
To the members of the Queensland Positive People Inc 
 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of the Queensland Positive People Inc. which comprises the Statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of financial position as at the 30 th June 2020, 
statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows the notes to the financial statement, including a
summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.  
 
In our opinion the financial report of the Queensland Positive People Inc has been prepared in accordance 
with Association’s Constitution, including. 
 
1. giving a true and fair view of the Association’s financial position as of 30th June 2020 and of its 

performance for the year ended on that date. 
2. complying with Australian Accounting Standards. 
3. the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-

Profits Commission Act 2012 and regulations; and 
4. the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 1981 

and regulations. 
 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial report 
section of our report. We are independent of the Association in accordance with the ethical requirements of 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is enough and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and have 
determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 to the financial report is appropriate to meet 
the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 and regulations, 
Associations Incorporation Act 1981 and regulations and to meet the needs of the members. The 
management’s responsibility also includes such internal controls as the officers determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, Management is responsible for assessing the Association’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless Management either intent to liquidate the Association or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Management are responsible for overseeing the Association’s financial reporting process.  
 
Other matters 
The comparative figures were audited by Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 who issued an 
unqualified audit opinion. 
 
The comparative figures have been adjusted to recognise a change in accounting policy, note 12, to 
recognise the two-million-dollar value of the registered mortgage over Lot 1, Survey Plan 130882, Local 
Government: Brisbane City with the State of Queensland.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this 
financial report. A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx.  This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
Independence 
In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian professional 
ethical pronouncements.  
 
 
__________________________ 
Jason O’Connor CA 
Registered Company Auditor (No. 353931) 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 
 
Dated this                          day of                                      2020. 
 
 

Jason O'Connor CA 
PO Box 3361 

WARNER QLD 4500 
 

(07) 3048 5727 
 

auditor@joconnorptyltd.com.au 
www.joconnorptyltd.com.au 
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